doi:10.25143/prom-rsu_2022-08_dts



Sandra Rozenštoka

The Impact of Exercise Consultation on Athlete Health and Exercise Tolerance

Summary of the Doctoral Thesis for obtaining a doctoral degree "Doctor of Science (*Ph.D.*)"

Sector – Clinical Medicine Sub-Sector – Internal medicine

Riga, 2022



Sandra Rozenštoka ORCID 0000-0003-1957-3493

The Impact of Exercise Consultation on Athlete Health and Exercise Tolerance

Summary of the Doctoral Thesis for obtaining a doctoral degree "Doctor of Science (*PhD*)"

Sector – Clinical medicine Sub-Sector – Internal medicine

Riga, 2022

The Doctoral Thesis was developed at the "Sports Laboratory", Ltd. – FIMS Collaborating Centre of Sports Medicine, Latvia

Supervisor of the Doctoral Thesis:

Dr. med., Professor **Andrejs Ērglis** University of Latvia

Official Reviewers:

Dr. med., Professor Aivars Lejnieks Rīga Stradiņš University, Latvia

Dr. med., Professor **Iveta Mintāle** University of Latvia

Ph.D., Exercise biochemistry, Professor of Sport and Exercise Science **Yannis Pitsiladis**, School of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Brighton, Eastbourne, United Kingdom

Defence of the Doctoral Thesis Clinical medicine will take place at the public session of the Doctoral Committee of Clinical Medicine on 5th September 2022 at 15.00 in Hippocrates Lecture Theatre, 16 Dzirciema Street, Rīga Stradiņš University and online via Zoom platform.

The Doctoral Thesis is available in RSU Library and on RSU website: https://www.rsu.lv/en/dissertations

Secretary of the Promotion Council: Dr. med., Professor Ilze Konrāde

Table of Contents

Ab	brevi	ations used in the Thesis	5				
Int	roduc	tion	7				
1.	Liter	ature Review	.12				
	1.1.5	Sports Medicine	.12				
	1.2. Physical Activity, Physical Exercise and Sports						
	1.3.7	The Effects of Physical Exercise on Human Body	.16				
	1.4. '	The Evaluation of Functional Condition and Individualization in					
		Sports	.17				
2.	Orga	inization of the Study	20				
	2.1.	Structure, Volume and Methods of the Study	20				
3.	Resu	llts	27				
	3.1.	First Appointment	27				
		3.1.1. Anthropometric Measurements	27				
		3.1.2. Training Programme	27				
		3.1.3. Subjective Health Status	29				
		3.1.4. Physical Working Capacity	29				
		3.1.5. Functional Parameters of the Cardiovascular and Respiratory					
		Systems	32				
		3.1.6. Reasons of the Termination for Cardiopulmonary Exercise					
		Testing	34				
		3.1.7. Electrocardiography	34				
		3.1.8. Evaluation of the First Appointment Testing Results	.35				
	3.2.	Second Appointment	37				
		3.2.1. Anthropometric Measurements	37				
		3.2.2. Training Programme	37				
		3.2.3. Subjective Health Status	.38				
		3.2.4. Physical Working Capacity	.38				
		3.2.5. Functional Parameters of the Cardiovascular and Respiratory	/				
		Systems	.39				
		3.2.6. Reasons of the Termination for Cardiopulmonary Exercise					
		Testing	.41				
		3.2.7. Electrocardiography	.42				
		3.2.8. Evaluation of the Second Appointment Testing Results	.42				
4.	Γ	Discussion	.43				
Co	nclus	ions	54				
Pra	ctical	l Recommendations	56				
Puł	olicat	ions on the Topic of the Thesis	.59				
Bit	oliogr	aphy	.61				
Ac	know	ledgements	.68				

Appendix 1	Permission of	f Rīga Stradiņš	University	Research Ethics	
Comm	ittee, Decision	No E-9 (2)			70

Abbreviations used in the Thesis

BF	breathing frequency
BMI	body mass index
bpm	beats per minute
DBP	diastolic blood pressure
ECG	electrocardiogram
HI	chronotropic index
HR	heart rate
HR170	heart rate 170 bpm
kg	kilogram
1	litre
max	maximum
MET	metabolic equivalent
min	minute
ml	millilitre
n	number of participants
р	probability
Рр	pulse pressure
qCO ₂	carbon dioxide quotient
qO_2	oxygen quotient
Qt	ardiac output
rel VO ₂	relative volume of oxygen
RER	respiratory exchange rate
RI	Robinson index
SBP	systolic blood pressure
SV	stroke volume
SVES	supraventricular extrasystole

TPR	total peripheral resistance
VCO ₂	volume of carbon dioxide
VE	expired volume
VES	ventricular extrasystole
VO_2	volume of oxygen
W	watt
WHO	World Health Organization

Introduction

As people's life expectancy increases, maintaining the population's health and quality of life throughout their lifetimes becomes important in Latvia and worldwide. It is also emphasized in the European Union's guidelines on physical activity (Andersen et al., 2008). However, in society, there is a tendency for people to become less physically active when they reach adulthood. This is probably due to mainly general recommendations for physical activity, without an individually explained necessity and ways of practical implementation. The growth in numbers of physically active individuals would significantly decrease the number of cardiovascular diseases as well as metabolic diseases, oncologic and other diseases. In order to implement this goal, a more considerable state support to the sports medicine field is required. Sports medicine is characterized by a multidisciplinary approach to the promotion of the physical activity of inhabitants. A sports physician who is knowledgeable about the effects of physical activity and sports on an individual's organism, taking into account the health status, medical history and exercise tolerance, educates the public and advises male and female individuals of various ages by advocating for physical activity as a way of improving their health and quality of life, prevention from chronic diseases caused by physical inactivity and recommends a suitable physical activity to athletes, para athletes, children and adults, people with obesity, elderly people and individuals with various diseases (Andersen et al., 2008; Ionescu et al., 2021; Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Latvia [CM LR], 2009). The duration of physical activity was set in the WHO Guidelines on Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour issued by the World Health Organization (WHO) in November 2020, which also includes an important notification: physical exercise yields extra health benefits in adult organism and health, if the duration of physical exercise is prolonged to 300 minutes per week and a child's 60 minutes of daily physical exercise is supplemented with organized sports trainings up to 120 minutes per day several times per week (WHO, 2020).

Objectives of the Thesis

Sports is developing and becoming increasingly popular in Latvia and worldwide contributing to the growing numbers of sports events and competitions. The line between professional and amateur sports begins to blur. The number of sports competitions increases and so does the number of participants – individuals with various health status, training programmes and physical fitness levels. The training programme of these individuals is often irregular and/or inappropriate for their health status and exercise tolerance, yet the in-depth preventive medical screening, as determined by the Sports Law of the Republic of Latvia, are carried out irregularly or never. The significant difference between the functional parameters of professional athletes and physically inactive individuals as well as the absence of comprehensive studies in scientific literature, lead to the necessity to carry out research.

The aim of the Thesis

To prospectively assess the exercise tolerance, its relevance to health condition and overall physical fitness of physically active individuals – athletes; to evaluate the impact of sports physician's exercise consultation on athlete health and exercise tolerance and create physical working capacity index and heart functional index assessment scales, depending on age, sex and training programmes.

Tasks of the Thesis

To achieve the Aim of the Thesis, the following tasks were set out:

- To divide the physically active individuals athletes, into research groups according to specific demographic and other indicators: age, gender, training programme, and assess their influence on exercise tolerance.
- 2. To assess the athletes' subjective and objective health status, functional condition and physical working capacity.
- 3. To evaluate the impact of sports physician's exercise consultation and prophylactic medical measures on athletes' health and exercise tolerance.
- To assess the aerobic and anaerobic capacity of the athletes, recovery and their effect on exercise tolerance before and after a sports physician's recommendations.
- 5. To compare the functional parameters, physical working capacity index and heart functional index of the physically active individuals who participated in the competition, to the data available in the scientific and professional literature, and create evaluation scales depending on age, gender and training programme.

Hypotheses of the Thesis

Exercise tolerance of the majority of the physically active people – athletes – is not adequate for their health status and/or overall physical fitness levels.

WHO's general physical exercise guidelines could not be suitable for the inhabitants of a specific region or are insufficient for individuals and their sports trainers to choose an adequate training programme without consulting with a sports physician.

Novelty of the Thesis

The first large-scale study in Latvia and Europe, with the cardiopulmonary exercise testing in order to scientifically justify and evaluate the impact of exercise tolerance and training programme on the amateur athlete's health status, physical working capacity and to assess the influence of the sports physician's exercise consultation on it.

Practical application of the Thesis

In the study the significance of a sports physician's exercise consultation for physically active people – athletes of various ages – was objectively assessed; its importance in the planning of the individually suitable physical load and the increasing of exercise tolerance was evaluated. In the study, depending on age, gender and training programme, physical working capacity index and heart functional index scales for physically active individuals – athletes – were created. These scales can be employed in sports medicine and other branches of medicine.

Personal contribution

The Author of the Thesis has analysed the scientific literature and professional publishing, developed the study design and confirmed it in the Riga Stradins University Research Ethics Committee, as well as carried out 2900 cardiopulmonary exercise tests that were included in the study. Every athlete was advised twice by the Author – certified sports physician and specialist in electrocardiography (ECG) and exercise testing, their test results were explained, an exercise consultation was done, and the necessary changes in the training programme were suggested. After the acquisition of the results, a database was created, the acquired data were analysed and developed physical working capacity index and heart functional index scales which are practically

applicable in sports medicine and other medicine fields. The Author has also written Thesis, publications and the Thesis Paper. The list of references consists of 170 sources. The volume of the Thesis covers 246 pages, including 9 chapters, 22 tables, 25 figures and 4 appendices. The Thesis is supported by 4 indexed publications.

1. Literature Review

1.1. Sports Medicine

Sports medicine is a multidisciplinary, scientific and practical healthcare field. It covers health protection, diagnostics of health status, functional condition, physical working capacity, exercise tolerance, morphofunctional features related to physical activity and physical inactivity, treatment, rehabilitation, prevention of various diseases, injuries or overload and recommendations for optimal physical exercise of professional, amateur and paediatric athletes, as well as the general public. (European Federation of Sports Medicine Association [EFSMA], 2018; Ionescu et al., 2021).

The Latvian Sports Medicine Association represents the sports medicine field in Latvia, uniting all sports physicians. Internationally sports medicine field is represented by the European Federation of Sports Medicine Associations (EFSMA) and the Internationale Federation of Sports Medicine (FIMS). The goals of the Sports Medicine field are:

- to promote full medical supervision and healthcare of elite athletes and to improve their results in sports,
- to prevent the health risks and death risk connected with physical exercise for athletes and the general public,
- to raise the awareness in specialists and society of the effects of physical activity on the human body, including cases of various diseases and injuries and about the proper training process, athlete and sports nutrition,
- to ensure the principle of fair play in sport (FIMS, 2018).

1.2. Physical Activity, Physical Exercise and Sports

Physical activity is defined in the current European Union Physical Activity Guidelines, 2008, and in the WHO Fact Sheet – Physical Activity, 2018, which states that physical activity is muscle-powered body movements that increase energy consumption compared to rest and also promote social and psychological benefits (Andersen et al., 2008; WHO, 2018). It includes all the individual's daily physical activity: leisure, work, housework and sports physical activity.

Sport, as a type of physical activity, is defined in the Sports Law of the Republic of Latvia as all types of individual or organized activities for maintaining and improving physical and mental health, as well as for success in sports competitions (Sports Law, 2002). Physical exercise is the process and effect of a certain amount of exercise on the human body and can be organized or practiced individually (WHO, 2018). When conducting research in Sports Medicine and also working in clinical practice, it is important to define whether an individual is a physically active person who engages in physical activity and sports to maintain or improve health and fitness, or an athlete – a physically active person who exercises with regular/irregular training programme; with/without membership in a sports organization; with/without the cooperation of a sports coach in the training process; low, medium and high intensity physical exercise with the aim to achieve a higher sports score in sports competitions. The Sports Law of the Republic of Latvia defines an athlete as a person who engages in sports and participates in sports competitions - an official event to determine the best athletes or sports teams (Sports Law, 2002). Sports training is a process of acquiring, maintaining and improving skills and abilities in sport (Sports Law, 2002).

Sports are divided according to the influence of physical exercise on the human body. Such a classification of sports was developed in 1994 by scientists Jere H. Mitchell, William L. Haskell and Peter B. Raven. They analysed the degree of activation of the sympathetic nervous system, energetic metabolism in the muscles involved in exercise, an increase in cardiac output (Qt), peripheral circulatory resistance and cardiovascular risk (Mitchell et al., 1994). As shown in Table 1.1, sports were divided into 9 groups, according to the type of physical exercise: dynamic or static, and according to the intensity of physical exercise: high, medium or low intensity. In 2005, the Classification of Sports, with new sports additions, was accepted by the European Society of Cardiology (Pelliccia et al., 2005).

Table 1.1

Type and intensity of physical exercise	High dynamic exercise	Moderate dynamic exercise	Low dynamic exercise
High static exercise	Boxing Canoeing Cycling Decathlon Kayaking Rowing Speed skating Triathlon	Body building Downhill skiing Snowboard Wrestling	Athletics: throwing Bobsledding Luge Rock climbing Water skiing Weight lifting Windsurfing
Moderate static exercise	Basketball Biathlon Cross country skiing: skating Field and Ice hockey Handball Rugby Running: middle dist. Soccer Swimming	American football Athletics: • Jumping • Sprinting Figure skating Lacrosse Surfing Synchronized swimming	Archery Auto racing Diving Equestrian Gymnastics Judo Karate Motorcycling Sailing

The Classification of Sports (Mitchell et al., 1994; Pelliccia et al., 2005)

Table 1.1 continued

Type and intensity of physical exercise	High dynamic exercise	Moderate dynamic exercise	Low dynamic exercise
Low static exercise	Badminton Cross country skiing: classic Orienteering Race walking Running: long dist. Squash Tennis: single	Baseball Fencing Softball Table tennis Tennis: doubles Volleyballs	Billiards Bowling Cricket Curling Golf Riflery

Latvia follows the WHO Global Recommendations on Physical Exercise for Health and encourages adults to exercise 75 to 150 minutes a week, and children 60 minutes a day (WHO, 2010). In the Latvian Public Health Guidelines for 2014–2020 it is mentioned that 90.0 % of the Latvian population does not follow the WHO recommendations (MH LR, 2014). A 2017/2018 study on Latvian students' health habits showed that also 78.8 % of boys and 84.6 % of girls did not get enough physical activity (Pudule et al., 2020). The 2016 health survey in Latvia showed another interesting result – self-assessment of the physical capacity of the population: 88.5 % of the Latvian population or 91.3 % of men and 86.1 % of women rated their physical capacity as very good to average (Grinberga et al., 2017). These data show the inability of people to objectively assess their physical health and fitness, thus maintaining high health and life-threatening risks during stress and high-intensity physical exercise.

In each country, popular or amateur sports have an important role, as they promote the participation of people of different ages and social groups in physical exercise, maintain people's physical and psychological health, and provide primary and secondary prevention of various diseases. In Latvia and around the world, the number of amateur sports events and the number of people participating in them are growing every year, for example, 16,358 runners

15

participated in various distances of the Riga Marathon in 2011, but in 2018 – 35,020 participants from 60 countries participated. (Nords Event Communication, 2019). The most physically active adult population is aged 25–40. They take part in popular sports competitions, at the same time, unlike professional athletes, many of them do not devote enough time to training, nor do they check their health and exercise tolerance. This poses risks to overload, acute cardiac events, sports injuries and sudden death in sports. After the age of 40, the number of people engaged in physical exercise decreases significantly.

1.3. The Effects of Physical Exercise on Human Body

Optimal, regular and prolonged physical exercise causes well-known permanent physiological, adaptive and morphological changes in the body, develops physical working capacity and physical abilities in sports and decreases risk of illness and injury (Auliks, 1985; Bremanis, 1991; Ionescu et al., 2021; Carpan, 1988; Wasserman et al., 2005). Participation in sports competitions significantly increases the risk for athletes. All individuals who train in sports and participate in sports competitions have 2.8 times higher relative sudden death risk in sport compared to individuals who train but do not participate in sports competitions (Ferreire et al., 2010). The risk is related to an individual's subjective and objective health status, functional condition, physical exercise factors and exercise planning. Improper, irregular or excessive exercise can cause physical overload, increase the risk of exercise-related illness, injury and sudden death in sport.

The only direct source of energy for muscle contraction is the energy from the hydrolysis reaction of the macroergic compound adenosine triphosphate or ATP. Continuous and efficient ATP resorption must be ensured during muscle work. There are three ATP resynthesis reactions in the body: creatine kinase reaction, anaerobic glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation (Bremanis, 1991).

1.4. The Evaluation of Functional Condition and Individualization in Sports

In Europe, 70 % of the countries decree preparticipation screening as obligatory for athletes. Preparticipation screening is similar to an in-depth preventive medical screening in Latvia, and includes:

- complaints, medical, family and sports history, training programme, physical examination, objective examination including 12-lead ECG, blood and urine tests;
- anthropometry, somatoscopy, assessment of physical development, posture, determination of movement quality and control;
- examination of physical working capacity, exercise tolerance and physical abilities, assessment of psychological condition and neuromuscular function, electromyography, cardiopulmonary exercise testing functional condition, aerobic and anaerobic thresholds, adaptation to physical exercise and training programme, echocardiography and spirometry (Ionescu et al., 2021; CM LR, 2016).

A person's ability to make physical activity is limited by the functional systems of the body, aerobic capacity, anaerobic capacity and the availability of energy resources. Repeated testing gives the possibility to assess changes in aerobic and anaerobic capacity, exercise tolerance, adequacy of the training programme, impact on health and an increased risk of overload or health events.

Physical working capacity is based on an individual's physical abilities. It depends on body composition, morphological and functional status of the organ systems, aerobic and anaerobic capacity, energy production efficiency, muscle strength, endurance, speed and neuromuscular coordination. The Physical working capacity index describes the individual's maximum relative exercise capacity and is measured in W/kg (watts/kilogram). Currently, the only

methodology available for estimating the physical working capacity index in the male and female populations, was published in 1969 and 1988 by the Russian sports medicine researcher V. Karpman (Карпман, 1969; Карпман, 1988).

The heart functional index describes the relative workload or physical working capacity at HR170 (Zukovskis, 1991). It is also referred to as PWC170. When the heart rate (HR) exceeds 170 ×/min, the linear relationship decreases. The ability of physically active individuals and athletes to perform regular and intense training programmes is ensured by adequate neural, physiological and morphological adaptation of the body. It depends on an individual's health, the training programme and the kind of sport (Bompa and Haff, 2009). If the training programme is not appropriate, it may increase health risks, including overload and cardiovascular risk (Skalik, 2015). Exercise tolerance is assessed by determining an individual's age, gender, physical exercise, physical working capacity index, heart functional index, maximum HR (Rozenstoka and Erglis, 2020), Robinson index (RI), functional parameters of the respiratory system, complaints, and whether ischemic changes in ECG are registered during the exercise (Mintale and Erglis, 2008).

An individual's adaptation to physical exercise is determined by the response of the body's functional systems, the maximum HR achieved during exercise, comparing whether the individual is able to reach the theoretical maximum HR (determined by the Astrand formula: 220 – age, years) (Dobre et al., 2013), the recovery process after physical exercise: good recovery – full recovery of functional parameters in six minutes after exercise, extended recovery – prolonged recovery of functional parameters in six minutes after exercise, extended recovery – prolonged recovery of functional parameters in six minutes after exercise.

Physical activity and physical exercise must be individually appropriate for each individual, both a professional athlete and a physically active person. According to data from the European Society of Cardiology study, regular preparticipation screening, including diagnostic methods during exercise, reduces the risk of sudden cardiac death by 89% (Borjesson et al., 2019). An appropriate and guided development of the training programme is characterized by its individual suitability for health status, physical working capacity and exercise tolerance with the determined regularity, frequency and duration of training. The necessary changes or additions to the training programme are explained by a sports physician to each individual, taking into account the individual's age, type of sport, time spent on physical exercise and the purpose of physical exercise. Regular assessment of the impact of physical exercise is important in individualization of the training programme.

2. Organization of the Study

2.1. Structure, Volume and Methods of the Study

A longitudinal prospective study was performed at a certified medical centre "Sports Laboratory" – FIMS collaborating centre of sports medicine. This study involved 1,600 self-perceived as healthy individuals aged 12 to 70 years (1,050 males, 550 females) who regularly engaged in high intensity dynamic and medium-high intensity static exercise (Mitchell et al., 1994) and participated in sports competitions (Sports Law, 2002). All of the individuals in the study were convinced that they did not have a cardiovascular, respiratory or other disease, and that they were healthy. In the research data basis were registered individuals who took part in both testings. In the study groups and the database were recorded individuals who participated at both testings and if the athlete did not participate in the second testing, none of the participant's results were included in the study. The design of the study is shown in Figure 2.1.

Participants were divided into study groups by gender and age, although there are significant individual differences up to 19 years of age (De Lamater and Friedrich, 2002): 12–15 years age group – early puberty; 16–19 years age group – late puberty; 20–29 years age group – early adult stage or onset of physiological maturity of the organism; the next age groups were divided into 10 years to 70 years of age, when the individual maintains a sufficiently high level of endurance through regular physical exercise (Zidens et al., 2008). According to the training duration per week, individuals were divided into groups of more than 300 or less than 300 exercise minutes per week according to the 2020 WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary lifestyle (WHO, 2020). Participants were included in the study groups according to following criteria and study groups as shown in Table 2.1 were numbered encrypted:

• gender: F – female or M – male;

- age group: 12–15 years, 16–19 years, 20–29 years, 30–39 years, 40–49 years, 50–59 years and 60–69 years;
- duration of training per week: < or less than 300 exercise minutes per week or ≥ or more than 300 exercise minutes per week;
- appointment time: 1 first appointment or 2 second appointment.



Figure 2.1 The design of the study

In the older study groups, it was not possible to ensure the participation of healthy individuals who train regularly and participate in sports competitions.

Before each appointment, participants were introduced to the study process, objectives, data protection, confidentiality, preparation and received answers to all questions and signed consent to participate in the study. The health status of each athlete was assessed at the consultation with a sports physician: absolute and relative contraindications for the cardiopulmonary exercise testing were excluded by questioning about complaints and athlete's medical card (State Agency of Medicine, 2020). The subject was considered healthy, if he / she had no complaints or symptoms of any disease, normal skin colour, normal heart rate, arterial blood pressure, respiratory rate, and resting ECG. The participant was warned to immediately inform the sports physician of any complaints that occurred during the testing. The maximum workload of the cardiopulmonary exercise testing poses high risk to human health and life, especially if the individual has not been previously tested, therefore all participants were tested in the office by the author of the Thesis – a certified sports physician and specialist in ECG and exercise testing methods and a nurse; the office was equipped with emergency care equipment and medicines.

Gender		Female	athletes			Male a	thletes	
Training programme	< 300 e minutes p	xercise er week	≥ 300 e minutes]	xercise per week	< 300 c minutes]	xercise per week	≥ 300 d	exercise per week
Appoint- ment time	First	Second	First	Second	First	Second	First	Second
12–15 years	F12-15 < 1 n-50	F12-15 < 2 n-50	$F12-15 \ge 1$ n-50	$F12-15 \ge 2$ $n-50$	M12-15 < 1 n-50	M $12-15 < 2$ n-50	M $12-15 \ge 1$ n-100	M $12-15 \ge 2$ n-50
16–19 years	F16-19 < 1 n-50	F16-19 < 2 n-50	$F16-19 \ge 1$ n-50	$F16-19 \ge 2$ n-50	M 16–19 < 1 n–50	M $16-19 < 2$ n-50	M $16-19 \ge 1$ n-100	M 16−19≥2 n−100
20–29 years	F20-29 < 1 n-50	F20-29 < 2 n-50	$\begin{array}{c} F20{-29} \geq 1\\ n{-}50 \end{array}$	$F20-29 \ge 2$ n-50	M 20–29 < 1 n–100	M 20–29 < 2 n–100	M $20-29 \ge 1$ n-100	M $20-29 \ge 2$ n-100
30–39 years	F30-39 < 1 n-50	F30-39 < 2 n-50	$F30-39 \ge 1$ n-50	$F30-39 \ge 2$ n-50	M 30–39 < 1 n–100	M 30–39 < 2 n–100	M 30−39 ≥ 1 n−100	M $30-39 \ge 2$ n-100
40–49 years	F40-49 < 1 n-50	F40-49 < 2 n-50	$F40-49 \ge 1$ n-50	I	${\rm M} \frac{40{-}49 < 1}{{\rm n}{-}100}$	${ m M}~40{-}49 < 2 { m n{-}50}$	M $40-49 \ge 1$ n-100	M $40-49 \ge 2$ n-100
50–59 years	F50-59 < 1 n-50	I	I	I	M 50–59 < 1 n–50	$M 50-59 < 2 \\ n-50$	M $50-59 \ge 1$ n-50	I
60–69 years	I	I	I	I	M 60–69 < 1 n–50	I	I	I

Numbering of study groups and number of participants

Table 2.1

After testing, each individual received the sports physician's consultation with the assessment of the results and recommendations for an individually suitable training programme and preventive measures. The second appointment was performed approximately 5–9 months after the initial consultation but still during the athlete's active training period or sports season. After the second testing, the sports physician evaluated the results, including the change in dynamics compared to the first testing, and made recommendations for further improvement in health and exercise. The study was approved by the RSU Research Ethics Committee, Decision No E - 9 (2).

The following methods were used in the study: literature review, anthropometric method (body weight, height, BMI), the estimation of sports history (sports as adolescent age, the age at which the individual started playing the current sport), current training programme (an existing membership in a sports organisation, the cooperation with a sports coach, the regularity, frequency and duration of training or exercise minutes per week), complaints that were and were not related to physical activity, habits, including smoking, repeated cardiopulmonary exercise testing and statistical analysis of the data were performed. The following predictive parameters were calculated for each study participant: maximum HR (×/min), maximum work-rate (W), absolute VO_2 max (ml/min) and metabolic equivalent (MET).

Cardiopulmonary exercise testing as a standardized qualitative and quantitative method was performed on a Master Screen CPX cardiopulmonary exercise testing system with a simultaneous 12-lead ECG, manual arterial blood pressure monitoring for higher measurement accuracy, breathing gas and respiratory volumes analysis. It is a scientifically based, objective and noninvasive assessment method. The exercise testing protocol was developed on the basis of the existing exercise testing method by creating an original protocol in consultation with the scientists of the Latvian Institute of Cardiology and the

24

supervisor of the study, Professor Andrejs Erglis. The test included 4 phases: the rest phase -1 minute; the warm-up phase -1 minute with a power of 50 watts (W) with cycling speed or cadence 60 rate per minute; the load phase – physical exercise of various durations with a gradually increasing power of 15 W/min up to the maximum work-rate; the recovery phase -6 minutes, of which the first 2 minutes are active recovery and 4 minutes – passive recovery. Parameters were determined at specific time points during the testing: rest, aerobic threshold, anaerobic threshold, at HR170, maximum work rate, and the sixth minute of the recovery phase.

The following functional parameters were determined and assessed for the evaluation of the functionality of the cardiovascular system: heart rate (HR; ×/min); systolic and diastolic arterial blood pressure (SBP, DBP; mmHg); pulse pressure (Pp; mmHg); stroke volume (SV; ml); cardiac output (Qt; l/min); total vascular resistance (TPR); Robinson Index (RI) and Chronotropic Index (HI). The cardiopulmonary exercise testing was also used for diagnosing coronary heart disease. The ECG was determined and analysed during the rest, exercise and recovery: HR; heart conduction system; rhythm and arrhythmias – supraventricular and ventricular extrasystoles (SVES; VES); nonspecific or ischemic changes in ECG.

For the evaluation of the respiratory system, the qualitative respiratory parameter – respiratory rhythm and the following quantitative parameters were determined and analysed: breathing frequency (BF; ×/min); expired volume (VE; l/min); inhale volume (l); exhale volume (l); volume of breathing air in 1 breathing cycle (l); absolute oxygen uptake (VO₂; ml/min); relative oxygen uptake (rel VO₂; ml/min/kg); metabolic equivalent (MET); absolute volume of carbon dioxide (VCO₂; ml/min); oxygen quotient (qO₂); carbon dioxide quotient (qCO₂); oxygen pulse (VO₂/HR; ml/min/rpm) and respiratory exchange rate (VCO₂/VO₂, RER).

The exercise phase was terminated according to the following criteria: fatigue in the leg muscles with difficulty cycling for a certain cadence; the predicted maximum HR has been reached; increasing shortness of breath; general fatigue; maximum arterial systolic blood pressure of 250 mmHg has been reached; chest pain; ECG changes that limit continued exercise: frequent ventricular extrasystoles or ischemic changes in ECG; other general symptoms: hypoxaemia, sudden paleness, confusion or dizziness. After the cardiopulmonary exercise testing each athlete was consulted by the sports physician and provided with the explanation of the results and recommendations for further training.

As it is written in the literature, the cardiopulmonary load testing is a relatively safe method, if it is performed by a trained, experienced and certified medical specialist, following the methodology, evaluating successive changes in two monitors, following the individual's complaints and stopping the testing when it is necessary (Myers et al., 2014). During the cardiopulmonary exercise testing complications are rare, usually they are associated with the underlying disease 0-14 cases per 100,000 tests, while the risk of sudden death is lower by 0-5 cases per 100,000 tests (Myers et al., 2014).

All statistical analyses were performed using International Business Machines Corporation Statistical Package for the Social Sciences software, version 22.0 (IBM SPSS, Corp., Armonk, NY). Categorical variables were described as frequencies and percentages. Normally distributed continuous variables were described as means and standard deviations (SD) using frequency and percentages or as medians and ranges in the case of not-normal distribution. Comparisons between 2 groups of participants accordingly to gender, training programme and appointment time were performed with the Student t-test for independent groups or with the Mann–Whitney test, according to the distribution of variables. Categorical variables were compared between groups with Pearson chi-square or Fisher exact test. Significance was considered as p < 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. First Appointment

At the first appointment, all the participants were tested without receiving a sports physician's exercise consultation and taking preventive measures. It provides an opportunity to collect and assess the health and functional data of physically active people – athletes of different age and gender.

3.1.1. Anthropometric Measurements

For athletes aged 12–15 years and 16–19 years, regardless of the training programme, the BMI was determined within the norm according to the percentile scales. For female athletes in the adult age groups, BMI was also within the normal range, except in the F50–59 < 1 group – elevated $25.48 \pm 3.78 \text{ kg/m}^2$. In male athletes M20–29 < 1, M20–29 ≥ 1 and M30–39 < 1 groups, the BMI was within the normal range, but in the other groups it was increased – overweight.

3.1.2. Training Programme

Assessing the current training programme, both gender athletes with the training programme of < 300 exercise minutes per week in all age groups had to start exercising statistically significantly later, exercising for a shorter time without interruption and less regularly compared to athletes with the training programme \geq 300 exercise minutes per week (p < 0.05). Athletes of both genders in the youngest age groups: 12–15 years and 16–19 years, trained statistically more often in a sports organization and under the guidance of a sports coach than adults (p < 0.001). In the age groups of 20–29 years, 30–39 years and 40–49 years, male athletes with the training programme \geq 300 exercise minutes per week were statistically significantly more likely to exercise regularly in a sports organization and under the guidance of a sports coach than male athletes

with the training programme of < 300 exercise minutes per week (p < 0.05). 81.3–85.6 % of all female athletes and 90.0–91.3 % of all male athletes had a sports history in adolescence. Athletes of both genders in all age groups had a statistically significant difference in training duration (p < 0.001) (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1

Group < 300 exercise minutes per week	Duration of training per week, min	Group ≥ 300 exercise minutes per week	Duration of training per week, min	p compares the influence of training programme
F12-15 < 1	245 [210; 285]	$F12-15 \ge 1$	567 [420; 1020]	< 0.001*
F16–19 < 1	270 [230; 285]	$F16-19 \ge 1$	720 [540; 1110]	< 0.001*
F20-29 < 1	154 [98; 185]	$F20-29 \ge 1$	360 [360; 458]	< 0.001*
F30-39 < 1	150 [60; 180]	F30–39 ≥ 1	360 [326; 376]	< 0.001*
F40-49 < 1	120 [60; 180]	$F40-49 \ge 1$	320 [300; 400]	< 0.001*
F50–59 < 1	172 ± 79	-	-	—
M12–15 < 1	240 [180; 270]	$M12 - 15 \ge 1$	450 [360; 600]	< 0.001*
M16–19 < 1	270 [165; 270]	M16–19 ≥ 1	630 [450; 900]	< 0.001*
M20–29 < 1	240 [124; 293]	$M20-29 \ge 1$	540 [370; 743]	< 0.001*
M30–39 < 1	155 [120; 210]	M30–39 ≥ 1	383 [360; 600]	< 0,001*
M40–49 < 1	180 [100; 200]	M40–49 ≥ 1	360 [300; 480]	< 0.001*
M50–59 < 1	180 [88; 229]	M50–59 ≥ 1	360 [338; 484]	< 0.001*
M60-69 < 1	185 ± 28	-	-	_

Duration of training per week for athletes undergoing different training programmes on the first appointment

* p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3.1.3. Subjective Health Status

In female athlete groups, the most common complaints were about the musculoskeletal system and its function, except for F20–29 < 1 – excessively increased pulse and fatigue, decreased endurance and prolonged recovery; F30–39 \geq 1 – fatigue, reduced endurance and prolonged recovery and F40–49 \geq 1 – increased pulse. In male athlete groups, regardless of the training programme, the most common complaints were about the musculoskeletal system and its function, except for M50–59 < 1 – fatigue, reduced endurance and prolonged recovery. No statistically significant difference was found between the study groups (p > 0.05). Some participants smoked: 5.5 % of all females and 6.5 % of all male participants.

3.1.4. Physical Working Capacity

Athletes performed the maximum absolute work-rate according to their body's physical working capacity. Comparing the maximum absolute work-rate with the predicted maximum absolute work-rate, statistically significant gender differences were observed (Figure 3.1). Female athletes in all age groups, regardless of the training programme, exceeded the predicted maximum absolute work-rate (p < 0.05). Male athletes in M12–15 < 1, M12–15 ≥ 1, M16–19 < 1 and M20–29 < 1 groups did not reach (p < 0.05); in M16–19 ≥ 1, M20–29 ≥ 1, M30–39 < 1, M40–49 < 1, M50–59 < 1 groups reached (p > 0.05); in M30–39 ≥ 1, M40–49 ≥ 1, M50–59 ≥ 1 and M60–69 < 1 groups statistically significantly exceeded the predicted maximum work-rate (p < 0.05). Female athletes in the F20–29 ≥ 1, F30–39 ≥ 1 and F40–49 ≥ 1 groups and male athletes in all age groups with training programme ≥ 300 exercise minutes per week showed statistically significantly higher aerobic capacity, anaerobic capacity, relative work-rate at HR170 and reached the maximum work-rate compared to

athletes in the respective age group with training programme < 300 exercise minutes per week (p < 0.018).

Athletes of both genders undergoing training programme of more than 300 exercise minutes per week had a significantly higher heart functional index by 0.55–0.57 W/kg, higher physical working capacity index by 0.67–0.69 W/kg compared to athletes following training programme of less than 300 exercise minutes per week.



Achieved maximum absolute work-rate Predicted maximum absolute work-rate

Figure 3.1 Predicted and achieved maximum absolute work-rate for athletes undergoing different training programmes

3.1.5. Functional Parameters of the Cardiovascular and Respiratory Systems

A statistically significant difference in results was observed in athletes of both genders undergoing training programme ≥ 300 exercise minutes per week compared to athletes who followed training programme < 300 exercise minutes per week at specific time points during the testing in the following parameters (p < 0.05): higher SV, Qt, Pp and lower DBP; F20–29 ≥ 1 , M20–29 ≥ 1 higher SBP; M20–29 ≥ 1 higher RI; F40–49 ≥ 1 higher HI. No statistically significant difference in the results depending on the training programme was observed for female athletes aged.

At rest SBP and DBP were recorded to be normal in all study groups, except male athlete groups M50-59 < 1, $M50-59 \ge 1$ and M60-69 < 1 where prehypertension was observed. During exercise, a normal normotonic reaction was observed in all 24 study groups. However, analysing each individual's blood pressure reaction to exercise, the hypertensive reaction to exercise was identified in each group of both gender athletes in post-puberty and adult athletes: 12 women and 96 men undergoing training programme < 300 exercise minutes per week and 5 women and 107 men undergoing training programme \geq 300 exercise minutes per week. In male athletes, hypertensive reactions to exercise were significantly more common than in female athletes, and the incidence increased with age. During exercise, SV increased, reaching its highest level at the aerobic threshold. A statistically significant difference, dependence of the training programme and gender was observed, except in age groups of 12-15-year-old athletes. The highest Qt was reached at the maximum workrate, with a statistically significant dependence on the training programme. In all groups of adults, RI and HI were within normal range. Analysing the qualitative data, RI was below middle and the risk of coronary heart disease was higher in 9 adult athletes, but reduced HI was detected of 118 individuals.

In the analysis of respiratory rhythm, more frequent non-rhythmic and forced respiration, regardless of gender, was detected in adolescents. At maximal work-rate, the highest VE was exhibited by female athletes in the F16–19 \geq 1 group -80.56 ± 18.16 l/min, and by male athletes in the M20-29 ≥ 1 group -121.38 ± 18.22 l/min. A statistically significant difference in respiratory functional parameters was observed in athletes of both gender undergoing training programme ≥ 300 exercise minutes per week compared to athletes following training programme < 300 exercise minutes per week (p < 0.05): higher VE, VO₂ max, rel VO₂, VCO₂ and oxygen pulse; additionally, $F20-29 \ge 1$ lower qO_2 and qCO_2 ; M16–19 \geq 1, M20–29 \geq 1 and M50–59 \geq 1 higher ITV, ETV and VB; F40–49 \geq 1, M20–29 \geq 1 and M50–59 \geq 1 higher BF. There was no statistically significant difference in respiratory performance (p > 0.05) in female athletes aged 16-19 years, depending on the training programme. The highest oxygen uptake was determined for athletes aged 16–19 years: females in groups F16–19 < 1 2345 \pm 422 ml/min and F16–19 \geq 1 2473 \pm 489 ml/min, and males in groups M16–19 < 1 3318 \pm 549 ml/min and M16–19 \geq 1 3663 ± 582 ml/min. There were statistically significant gender differences – male athletes showed a higher maximum oxygen uptake (p < 0.05), except at 12–15 years of age. MET achieved during exercise was also statistically significantly dependent on the training programme. Athletes undergoing training programme \geq 300 exercise minutes per week reached a higher MET (p \leq 0.001). Comparing the maximum and predicted MET, female athletes in all groups except F40–49 \geq 2 and F50–59 < 2 did not achieve the predicted MET, as did male athletes who followed training programme < 300 exercise minutes per week, except in group M60–69 < 2. Male athletes in group M12–15 < 2 undergoing training programme ≥ 300 exercise minutes per week did not reach, but in the other groups slightly exceeded the predicted MET.

3.1.6. Reasons of the Termination for Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing

The most common reason for the termination of cardiopulmonary exercise testing in female athlete group F12-15 < 1 was achieving the predicted maximum HR. In adult female athlete groups, regardless of the training programme, the most frequent reason was the shortness of breath. In male athletes aged 12–15, 16–19, 20–29 and 30–39 years, regardless of the training programme, the most frequent reason was lower limb muscle fatigue with difficulties in further pedalling in definite cadence, 40–49 years old – the shortness of breath, 50–59 years age – reaching of the predicted maximum HR. No statistically significant difference in the frequency of the reasons for the cardiopulmonary exercise testing was observed (p > 0.05).

3.1.7. Electrocardiography

During resting, exercise and recovery, the ECG recorded sinus rhythm in all individuals, regardless of gender, age, and chosen training programme, except for 1.0-2.0 % of athletes of both genders in the 30–39 and 40–49-years age groups with ectopic atrial rhythm. 28.3 % (n–453) of athletes had cardiac conduction changes: 10.7 % (n–59) of female athletes and 20.0 % (n–221) of male athletes had incomplete blocks of the His bundle right branch.

Non-specific ST-segment T-wave changes were observed relatively more often in females at rest than in males at rest, especially in the older study groups. During the exercise its frequency decreased (Figure 3.2). None of the participants in the study had complaints which would indicate ischemia in the heart muscle, however the cardiopulmonary exercise testing revealed cases of ischemic ECG changes during the exercise: ST-segment 1 mm depression of 0.06–0.08 milliseconds from the J-spot. As the age of the athletes increased, ischemic ECG changes during exercise were more common. All the athletes with diagnosed

ischemic ECG changes were sent for additional cardiological and blood biochemical analyses and an individualized exercise programme with restrictive measures was planned.



Figure 3.2 Non-specific and ischemic ECG changes during exercise in athletes undergoing different training programmes

3.1.8. Evaluation of the First Appointment Testing Results

All the testing results were important in assessing the health status of athletes and the need for further supervision by a sports physician. As the age increased, athletes were more often in need of a regular sports physician's supervision (Figure 3.3). Good functional status was statistically significantly more common in athletes undergoing training programme \geq 300 exercise minutes per week (p < 0.05). Athletes were divided into clinical functional groups: Group 1–2.1 % (n–33); Group 2–67.6 % (n–1081); Group 3–30.4 %

(n-486) of all the athletes, without statistically significant dependence on the training programme (p > 0.05). 20.0 % (n-320) of all the athletes had adapted to exercise, 52.5 % (n-840) of the athletes demonstrated reduced adaptation and 27.5 % (n-440) of the athletes had not adapted to physical activity.



Number of individuals, %



During the first appointment all the participants received a sports physician's consultation in which the individual's health status, functional condition, physical working capacity and exercise tolerance were analysed and recommendations for maintaining and improving health and adjusting their training programme were provided, as well as individualized exercise planning, treatment and supplement prescription was done if necessary.

3.2. Second Appointment

In 5–9 months, during the second appointment, participants were retested according to an identical protocol. This made it possible to assess the impact of a sports physician's consultation and individualized physical exercise on the participants' health status, functioning of the body's systems, exercise tolerance and physical working capacity.

3.2.1. Anthropometric Measurements

During the second testing, no statistically significant changes in BMI were found in female athletes (p > 0.05), but in male athletes, BMI was found to be statistically significantly lower and was in norm in the M30–39 < 2, M40–49 < 2, and M50–59 < 2 groups (p < 0.045).

3.2.2. Training Programme

No statistically significant difference in the organization of the training process was observed in adolescents of both gender athletes (p > 0.05). The female athletes F20–29 \ge 2 (p = 0.008) and male athletes M20–29 \ge 2 statistically significantly more often performed training in a sports organisation or / and with coach guidance (p = 0.027).

3.2.3. Subjective Health Status

Complaints were statistically significantly less frequent in female athletes: $F12-15 \ge 2$ by 28.0 % (n–14) (p = 0.005), F30-39 < 2 by 22.0 % (n–11) (p = 0.028); in male athletes: M50-59 < 2 by 34.0 % (n–17) cases (p = 0.001). The number of physically active people who smoked decreased: 2.0 % of all female athletes and 3.4 % of all male athletes.

3.2.4. Physical Working Capacity

After a sports physician's consultation, following an individually appropriate training programme, athletes showed statistically significantly higher aerobic capacity in groups: F16–19 \geq 2 and F20–29 \geq 2; higher aerobic and anaerobic capacity in groups: F20–29 < 2 and F40–49 < 2 and M12–15 \geq 2, M16–19 < 2, M20–29 < 2, M20–29 \geq 2, M30–39 < 2, M40–49 < 2, M50–59 < 2; depended on the gender and training programme in groups: F20–29 < 2, F30–39 < 2, F40–49 < 2, M12–15 < 2, M20–29 \geq 2, M30–39 < 2, M40–49 < 2, M40–49 < 2, M40–49 < 2, M20–29 \geq 2 and F16–19 \geq 2, F20–29 \leq 2, M30–39 < 2, M40–49 < 2, M40–49 < 2, M50–59 < 2 and F16–19 \geq 2, F20–29 \geq 2, M12–15 \geq 2, M20–29 \geq 2 and M30–39 \geq 2 (p < 0.05). A substantial difference was observed comparing the achieved maximum absolute work-rate with the predicted maximum absolute work-rate (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4 The difference between the achieved and predicted absolute maximum work-rate in athletes undergoing different training programmes during the second appointment

At the second appointment, athletes showed a statistically significantly higher physical working capacity index (p < 0.05) depending on the training programme, the same as the heart functional index. Athletes aged 20–29 years showed the highest physical working capacity index: females in group $F20-29 \ge 23.57 \pm 0.74$ W/kg and males in group $M20-29 \ge 24.28 \pm 0.93$ W/kg.

3.2.5. Functional Parameters of the Cardiovascular and Respiratory Systems

Following the sports physician's exercise recommendations, the athletes statistically significantly increased the functional parameters of the cardiovascular system: lower HR and higher systolic volume (p < 0.05). An

increase in Qt was also observed in all study groups at specific time points during the testing. During exercise, a normal normotonic reaction was observed in all 24 study groups but individual cases with a hypertensive reaction were less reported: $F20-29 \ge 2$ only 1 in female athletes and 137 in male athletes or 32.51 % less frequently. The reduced HI was observed significantly infrequently – in 64 individuals. Statistically significantly lower total vascular resistance was detected (p < 0.05).

VE, VO_2 , rel VO_2 , VCO_2 and oxygen pulse was statistically significantly increased in all study groups at specific time points of the exercise testing (p < 0.05). The highest VO₂ max was observed in athletes aged 16–19 years: female group F16–19 \geq 2 2879 \pm 455 ml/min or by 406 ml/min or 9.53 % more than during the first testing (p < 0.001); male group M16–19 \geq 2 4049 ± 527 ml/min or 386 ml/min or 14.10 % more than during the first testing (p < 0.001). All female athlete groups significantly exceeded the predicted VO₂ max by 10.5-33.9 %, but male athletes in M12-15 < 2 - did not reach the predicted VO₂ max by 21.1 %, M16–19 < 2 group did not reach VO₂ max by 3.4 %, M12–15 \geq 2; M16–19 \geq 2 reached it, but in the adult athlete groups the predicted VO₂ max was exceeded by 6.7–32.1 %. The maximum number of METs achieved depended on age, gender, and training programme. At the maximum work-rate, athletes of both genders statistically significantly increased the number of METs and reached parameters listed in the Table 3.2 (p < 0.05). The maximum MET achieved at the maximum work-rate was compared with the predicted values: female athletes, except F40–49 < 2, F12–15 \geq 2, F16–19 \geq 2, did not reach the predicted maximum MET (as in the first testing). Male athletes in all groups, regardless of the training programme, exceeded the predicted maximum MET.

Groups < 300 exercise minutes per week	Maximum reached MET	Groups ≥ 300 exercise minutes per week	Maximum reached MET	p compares the influence of training programme
F12–15 < 2	10.74 ± 1.53	$F12-15 \ge 2$	11.27 ± 1.54	0.378
F16–19 < 2	10.09 ± 1.63	$F16-19 \ge 2$	11.33 ± 1.65	0.001*
F20–29 < 2	10.18 ± 1.61	$F20-29 \ge 2$	11.85 ± 1.86	< 0.001*
F30–39 < 2	9.51 ± 1.93	F30–39 ≥ 2	11.37 ± 1.90	< 0.001*
F40-49 < 2	9.80 ± 2.12	-	—	-
M12-15 < 2	12.21 ± 2.23	$M12 - 15 \ge 2$	13.90 ± 1.99	< 0.001*
M16–19 < 2	13.14 ± 2.38	M16–19≥2	14.33 ± 2.24	< 0.001*
M20–29 < 2	12.58 ± 2.21	$M20-29 \ge 2$	14.15 ± 2.41	< 0.001*
M30–39 < 2	12.23 ± 2.09	M30–39 ≥ 2	12.64 ± 2.09	0.468
M40–49 < 2	11.17 ± 1.93	M40–49 ≥ 2	12.26 ± 2.17	0.021*
M50–59 < 2	11.22 ± 1.92	_	_	_

Maximum metabolic equivalent in athletes undergoing different training programmes

* p < 0,05 statistically significant difference.

In both genders, the oxygen pulse was statistically significantly dependent on the training programme (p < 0.05).

3.2.6. Reasons of the Termination for Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing

The most common reason for the termination of cardiopulmonary exercise testing in female athletes changed from other reasons to lower limb muscle fatigue, the same as it was in male athletes in the older groups.

3.2.7. Electrocardiography

The study did not find a statistically significant difference in the analysis of heart rhythm and cardiac conduction changes depending on the training programme. In the F20–29 \geq 2 group there were statistically significantly less athletes – by 24.0 % (n–12) – with nonspecific ECG changes at rest (p = 0.013).

3.2.8. Evaluation of the Second Appointment Testing Results

At the second appointment, the health status of athletes was statistically significantly more often assessed as healthy for athletes undergoing training programme < 300 exercise minutes per week (p < 0.05). The functional condition and recovery were depended on the training programme (p < 0.05). In the first clinical functional group were 4.2 % (n–55), in the second clinical functional group were 78.5 % (n–1021), in the third clinical functional group were 17.2 % (n–224) of all athletes. A statistically significantly better recovery was observed in athletes undergoing training programme < 300 exercise minutes per week: F16–19 < 2, F20–29 < 2, F30–39 < 2, F40–49 < 2 (p ≤ 0.009) and M30–39 < 2 (p ≤ 0.025); athletes undergoing training programme ≥ 300 exercise minutes per week: F20–29 ≥ 2, F30–39 ≥ 2 (p ≤ 0.013) and M12–15 ≥ 2 groups (p = 0.021). Athletes were statistically significantly adapted to physical exercise more often in female groups F12–15 ≥ 2, F16–19 < 2, F20–29 < 2, F30–39 < 2, F20–29 ≥ 2, F30–39 < 2, F16–19 < 2, F20–29 < 2, F30–39 < 2

4. Discussion

In the study, involving the largest group of physically active people – athletes who consider themselves healthy and participate in sports competitions, exercise tolerance and its characteristics and the relevance of exercise tolerance to health status were studied. In order to analyse the obtained results, the discussion part of the Thesis was divided as follows: training programme, physical working capacity, cardiovascular system, respiratory system, reasons for termination of the cardiopulmonary exercise testing, recovery, adaptation to physical exercise and the planning of individually suitable training programme.

Training programme

It is crucial for athletes who participate in sports competitions in all sports levels to follow a training programme suitable for their individual health status, functional condition and physical working capacity. It is characteristic of popular or amateur sports that individuals who initially perform physical activity with the aim of improving their health and increasing their physical working capacity, after a while increase the frequency, duration and intensity of training and start participating in sports competitions. Within the meaning of the Sports Law, these individuals become athletes (Sports Law, 2002). If the training programme chosen by amateur sports athletes does not give the desired result, it may increase health risk, including cardiovascular events, and overload (Skalik, 2015). In the study, it was observed that having received recommendations after sports physician's exercise consultation an athlete trained more regularly, achieving longer exercise time per week and an increased exercise tolerance.

Physical working capacity

Athletes' physical working capacity was also affected by their training programme and gender, but was not affected by age (Beaumont et al., 2018). Following an individually suitable training programme, athletes undergoing training programme < 300 exercise minutes per week in the long term demonstrated a statistically significant increase in physical working capacity. Regular training programmes provided better cardiovascular and respiratory function, and reduced the risk of cardiovascular disease and sudden death in athletes (Corrado et al., 2006).

Comparing the physical working capacity index determined at the second appointment with the assessment of V. Karpman's physical working capacity for adults available in the scientific literature, a significant difference was observed: female athletes undergoing training programme < 300 exercise minutes per week exceeded the high level by 20.9–30.9 %, female athletes undergoing training programme \geq 300 exercise minutes per week – by 37.0–55.2 % (Карпман, 1969; Карпман, 1988). Male athletes showed similar results. The increase in fitness and physical working capacity was ensured by statistically significantly improved aerobic and anaerobic capacity, better functional capacity of the cardiovascular system and respiratory system. The significant difference in the data for female athletes created a scientific and practical need to develop more objective scales for the evaluation of the physical working capacity index, taking into account the training programme and in the future possibly include this information in the predicted parameter scales of a diagnostic equipment. The highest physical working capacity index was achieved by athletes of both genders aged 20-29 years undergoing training programme \geq 300 exercise minutes per week. Comparing them with data from professional athletes of a similar age, a significant difference was observed. Female athletes showed a 54.5–76.7 % and male athletes showed a 47.8–79.1 % lower physical working capacity index (Areta, 2020; Fornasiero et al., 2018; McArdle, Katch FI and Katch VL, 2010).

Cardiovascular System

A sports physician must be able to identify individuals with inappropriately high heart rate, low physical working capacity and fitness or poor body functionality. The heart rate at specific time points during the cardiopulmonary exercise testing was dependent on the individual's health status, functional condition of the body, training programme and the physical working capacity. Regular exercise with included individually appropriate endurance exercises, such as cycling, running or cross-country skiing provided prevention of arterial hypertension (Pescatello et al., 2004) or normalized increased blood pressure. This was evidenced by the data of the study: after an individually suitable training programme, the number of individuals with a hypertensive response to exercise decreased significantly or by 38.1% (n-85). Individuals were informed that physical exercise is an important factor in the treatment of arterial hypertension (Maron, Pelliccia, 2006; Pelliccia et al., 2005). The European Society of Cardiology has included in its recommendations the ethical, medical and legal responsibility of a physician to inform an athlete at any sports level about the effects of exercise on the body, increased acute cardiovascular risk and the choice of appropriate treatment, including individually suitable exercise for the delay of cardiovascular disease (Pelliccia et al., 2005).

In athletes of different ages, stroke volume depended on gender, body composition, heart size, sympathetic stimulation of the heart, its contractility, sports history, and other factors (Csecs et al., 2020; Wheatley et al., 2014). During the second testing a significant increase in stroke volume at specific time points during the testing was observed, which resulted in a lower heart rate at the respective work-rate. During exercise, stroke volume was statistically

45

significantly dependent on the chosen training programme and exercise duration (Rozenstoka and Erglis, 2020). During exercise, the highest stroke volume was shown by female athletes aged 16-19 years following training programme of ≥ 300 exercise minutes per week: 105 ± 17 ml. However, it was significantly lower than the 125 ml stroke volume in professional female athletes mentioned in the literature (Ferguson et al., 2001). Male athletes aged 20-29 years undergoing training programme ≥ 300 exercise minutes per week showed the highest stroke volume 140 ± 13 ml, which was significantly lower than that reported in the literature for male professional athletes 160-180 ml at a heart rate 120-150 bpm or higher than stroke volume in untrained male population 100 ml (Degens et al., 2019; McArdle, Katch FI and Katch VL, 2010). This difference in results creates an objective need for an in-depth assessment of the functional performance of physically active people.

Cardiac output as a parameter for assessing cardiac function is important for diagnosing heart disease, prescribing treatment, preventing it (Vignati and Cattadori, 2017; Vignati et al., 2017) and planning physical activity with necessary limitations. It significantly affects an individual's anaerobic capacity, physical working capacity and fitness and allows a more accurate determination of the individual's functional condition or diagnoses the disease (Vignati and Cattadori, 2017). The data of the study showed that the cardiac output depends on the age, gender, physical working capacity and training programme of the athletes. Following sports physician's exercise consultation recommendations, female athletes increased their maximum cardiac output by 1.5–2.8 l/min and male athletes – by 1.6–3.8 l/min, regardless of the training programme.

Intensive load of training and participation in sports competitions can increase the relative risk of sudden cardiac death by 2.8 times compared to untrained individuals (Corrado et al., 2006). Therefore, during the cardiopulmonary exercise testing ECG analyses made possible to diagnose heart

46

disease, changes in heart rhythm, or conditions that increase the risk of acute cardiac events or sudden death in sport (Sharma, Merghani and Mont, 2015). Characteristic changes in an athlete's ECG are influenced by age, gender, race, and the sports exercise (Sharma, Merghani, and Mont, 2015). In athletes of both genders, the most frequent changes of the heart conduction system reported in ECG were incomplete block of the His bundle right branch with a normal-length QRS complex. It is diagnosed in 3.0–4.6 % of the population and 9.0–24.0 % more often in the athlete population, which is in-line with the frequency of this finding among the study participants. For most individuals, this was the only finding in ECG and did not indicate structural damage to the heart (Bussink et al., 2013; Le et al., 2010; Malhotra et al., 2015).

Accelerated heart rate and increased stroke volume during exercise were associated with shorter cardiac diastolic time (Bodegard et al., 2005; Wasserman et al., 2005). At rest, non-specific changes in the ST segment - T wave, regardless of the training programme, were detected more often in females – in 37.3–38.0 % of cases, less often in males – in 22.7–23.7 % of cases. Preventative measures such as adequate daily regime, good sleep, healthy and balanced diet with omega - 3 fatty acids, vitamins and minerals, adequate hydration, other measures and adherence to an individually suitable training programme reduced the incidence by 4.3 %. Coronary heart disease is the most common cause of exercise-related sudden death in individuals over the age of 35, therefore diagnosis of ischemic changes during maximum exercise was very important (Singh and Baggish, 2018). According to the scientific literature, the ischemic changes on the ECG are recorded in 4.4 % of the adult athlete population (Ng, 2006). In this study, 3.6 % or 30 adult females and 3.0 % or 31 adult males without typical complaints, had the ischemic changes in ECG during the exercise: ST-segment 1 mm depression of 0.06–0.08 milliseconds from the Jspot. In both testings individuals did not meet the exercise termination criterion when ST-segment 2–3 mm depression of 0.06–0.08 milliseconds from the J-spot was observed (Bodegard et al., 2005). In the second testing less individuals with the ischemic changes in ECG during the exercise: ST-segment 1 mm depression of 0.06–0.08 milliseconds from the J-spot, could be explained with better cardiovascular adaptation to the physical exercise, economical use of resources, decreased demand and the sensitivity of testing method. When an individual was diagnosed with ischemic ECG changes, an in-depth blood biochemical parameter measuring and additional cardiac examination were prescribed, and an individual exercise with significant limitations was prescribed by a sports physician.

Respiratory System

The functioning of the athlete's respiratory system at rest and during exercise is affected by various factors: health status, stress durability, physical exercise, intensification of the body functions, including the respiratory system and others (Rozenstoka et al., 2016; Rozenstoka and Erglis, 2020; Smoliga et al., 2016; Wasserman et al., 2005). During the first testing, 24.0 % (n–384) of all individuals mentioned shortness of breath as a reason for exercise termination, the reason was statistically significantly more often mentioned by females. In all of these cases, it was important to find the cause. A significant proportion of individuals had an irregular breathing rhythm: 53.6–54.0 % of females and 49.3–52.6 % of males, more frequently in the 12–15 and 16–19-years age groups. This reflected a problem that children are not taught proper breathing techniques during various physical activities during sports lessons and also during organized training by sports education institutions.

Expired volume was influenced by the chosen training programme, age, gender, physical working capacity and other factors. During the second testing, athletes statistically significantly increased their expired volume during the maximum work-rate. Athletes undergoing training programme ≥ 300 exercise

48

minutes per week reached the highest expired volume: females in the 16–19 age group – 90.18 \pm 17.26 l/min and males in the 20–29 age group – 131.15 \pm 18.17 l/min. It was 27.2–28.5 % less than that reached by professional athletes and 27.3–34.6 % more than expired volume at maximum work-rate in the population (Jordan et al., 2009; Rozenstoka et al., 2016).

An important parameter in sports medicine is the oxygen uptake determined during exercise (Fletcher et al., 2013; Mayolas et al., 2017). The study confirmed that the maximum oxygen uptake and the volume of carbon dioxide were dependent on gender, age and the chosen training programme. In different age, gender and training programme groups, athletes statistically significantly exceeded the predicted maximum oxygen uptake by 6.7-34.2 % (p < 0.001). The data detected the discrepancy between the predicted maximum oxygen uptake at significantly lower absolute work-rate. This requires further research into the calculation of theoretical values, taking into account the influencing factors. It has been reported in the literature that individuals show higher relative oxygen uptake between the ages of 15 and 30, which was also confirmed in the study (Fletcher et al., 2013). However, the study was able to clarify that the highest relative oxygen uptake was shown by athletes undergoing training programme \geq 300 exercise minutes per week: females aged 20–29 years 41.49 \pm 6.50 ml/kg/min and males aged 16–19 50.14 \pm 7.84 ml/kg/min.

Metabolic equivalent is an important prognostic parameter in medicine for assessing the body's cardiorespiratory health, function and physical performance (Fletcher et al., 2013). The size of metabolic equivalent during exercise could theoretically be used for exercise planning, however, this isolated single-parameter method was found to have significant shortcomings in overestimating or underestimating an individual's fitness and physical working capacity, including individuals with coronary heart disease and other diseases (Franklin et al., 2018). Thus, in order to compile recommendations for such a complex issue as an individually suitable physical exercise and to plan the training programme, all the obtained parameters and their interrelationships must be analysed. A statistically significant increase in the size of metabolic equivalent was observed in all groups of athletes after following the sports physician's exercise consultation. This indicated a lower risk of cardiac events (Franklin et al., 2018). The Latvian Society of Cardiology guidelines "Physical exercise tests, methodology, 2008" are used in exercise testing where the norm size of metabolic equivalent for population is mentioned (Mintale and Erglis, 2008). In this study was shown that the maximum size of metabolic equivalent reached by female athletes did not reach the predicted size in either the first or second testing. Female athletes who did not reach the predicted size of metabolic equivalent achieved and exceeded other predicted parameters. Such a different interpretation of the results could lead to difficulties in evaluating and interpreting the results in the sports physician's practice. The highest size of metabolic equivalent reached by male athletes, regardless of the training programme, exceeded the predicted size of metabolic equivalent. It created a need to re-evaluate the guidelines of methodological materials used in cardiology and sports medicine.

Reasons for termination of cardiopulmonary exercise testing

High intensity continuous physical exercise causes physiological fatigue in the body, which manifests itself in the individual's desire to stop exercise for central and peripheral reasons (Carriker, 2017). The reason for termination of the cardiopulmonary exercise testing, as one of the important factors of the exercise testing, showed the weakest possible functioning of the body's functional systems, lack of system cooperation or symptoms of a disease. During the first testing, the most common reason for exercise termination in a relatively large number of subjects, especially females, was shortness of breath. After a sports physician's consultation about a suitable training programme and the athlete's technical training in proper breathing techniques during exercise, the functioning of the respiratory system and the cardiovascular system improved, and the athlete's ability to work increased. For most athletes, the most common reason for termination of the cardiopulmonary exercise testing was leg muscle fatigue.

Recovery

Recovery is an important part of the exercise and training process. In the first appointment, good and adequate recovery after the maximum work-rate was only 20.8 % of all athletes, in the second appointment the number of athletes with adequate recovery increased. Prolonged recovery was facilitated by individual inadequate and over-intensive training programmes, rapid growth in adolescence, daily stress, too short time to sleep and other factors.

Adaptation to physical activity

It is determined by the Sports Law of the Republic of Latvia and is generally accepted in professional sports that a healthy or practically healthy and trained athlete should schedule an appointment with a sports physician at least once a year for an in-depth preventive medical screening. Physically active people – athletes often do not undergo preventive medical screenings for various reasons, although their health and functional condition can be very different, possibly even associated with an increased risk to health. Individuals who considered themselves to be healthy were also included in this study, however, during an examination of individuals at the first appointment, it was found that as male athletes got older, they were more often recommended to see a sports physician regularly; their individual training programme needed to be reviewed more frequently: 50–59 and 60–69-years age groups even in 54–56 % of cases.

After the sports physician's exercise consultation, the need for regular monitoring with a sports physician was observed statistically less often.

Adaptation of an athlete's body to physical exercise is one of the most important assessments in sports medicine. It describes the athlete's body response to the chosen sport, physical activity, training programme and the influence on the health status and the effectiveness of the functionality of body systems (Bompa and Haff, 2009; Dickhuth et al., 2012; Rozenstoka, Lace and Jubele, 2010; Rozenstoka and Erglis, 2020). Only 20.7 % of athletes were adapted to physical exercise at the first appointment and 31.2 % of athletes in the second appointment. The results confirmed that athletes who followed the recommendations provided at the exercise consultation with sports physician, did regular, longer and individually adapted exercise under the guidance of a sports coach, had higher exercise tolerance, better adaptation and faster recovery after exercise. This pointed to the usefulness of an individually suitable exercise and the value of the sports physician's exercise consultation. Accordingly, each athlete and physically active individual must undergo an in-depth preventive medical screening, including a cardiopulmonary exercise testing, as required by the Sports Law of the Republic of Latvia, the Preparticipation medical evaluation for elite athletes: the European Federation of Sports Medicine Associations recommendations on standardized preparticipation evaluation form in European countries 2021 and recommendations of many international sports federations (Ionescu et al., 2021; Sports Law, 2002).

Individual training planning

A training programme with long enough and intense physical exercise can affect the way of existing heart disease and the risk of sudden cardiac death in sport (James et al., 2013; La Gerche, Heidbuchel, 2014; Mont et al., 2017). The sports physician should recommend physical activity that is adequate and appropriate to the individual's health, but should avoid the potential risks that physical exercise may pose. The sports physician provides an exercise consultation with guidelines for the training programme on the regularity, frequency and duration of exercise, successive changes in exercise and rest regime, the proportions of training parts, and specific tasks in the preparation cycle for a sports competition. When compiling the training plan, it is recommended to follow four parts of the training: a warm-up, the basic part of the training, a cool-down and a separate stretching part. Often, with individually suitable physical exercise, a significant therapeutic effect is achieved for an individual in the case of various diseases and rehabilitation after an injury, ensuring a faster return to sports.

Conclusions

Analysing the data obtained in the Thesis, it was concluded:

- Athletes of both genders undergoing training programme more than 300 exercise minutes per week had significantly higher exercise tolerance, cardiac chronotropic and inotropic capacity, respiratory function, physical performance, 0.67–0.69 W/kg higher physical working capacity index and 0.55–0.57 W/kg higher heart functional index compared to athletes undergoing training programme less than 300 exercise minutes per week, but with advancing age, physically active individuals reduced training regularity and training duration as well as participation in a sports organization or did not seek the guidance of a sports coach.
- 2. For most physically active individuals athletes, the training programme was adequate to their health status, but inadequate to the level of physical working capacity, which indicated that the general physical activity recommendations, while beneficial, may not be sufficient for an individual to choose an adequate training programme at each sport level to improve health and functional condition, to increase physical working capacity, to succeed in sports competitions and to reduce the risks of acute health events.
- 3. An exercise consultation with a sports physician improved an individual's health status, adaptation to physical exercise (more in females) and exercise tolerance: better physical working capacity (by 0.32–0.46 W/kg), greater stroke volume (by 4–21 ml) and cardiac output (1.6 to 3.6 l/min), expired volume (8.8 l/min), oxygen uptake (4.0 ml/kg/min) and volume of carbon dioxide during exercise, higher size of metabolic equivalent (by 1.14 MET) and

oxygen pulse (by 0.7–3.1 ml/min/bpm), as well as faster recovery after exercise.

- 4. Higher aerobic capacity, anaerobic capacity and faster recovery which significantly affected exercise tolerance and performance benefits, were observed in amateur athletes undergoing training programme more than 300 exercise minutes per week depending on gender, age and training programme.
- 5. Functional parameters of physically active people athletes, physical working capacity index and heart functional index did not correspond to the data available in the professional literature and in order to ensure a full and clear interpretation and evaluation of the results it was necessary to establishing age-, gender- and training specific physical working capacity index and heart functional index evaluation scales for general use, as well as re-evaluate the guidelines of methodological materials used in the future.

Practical Recommendations

Athletes at all sports levels should be monitored regularly for in-depth preventive medical screenings, including cardiopulmonary exercise testing, especially if the duration of training exceeds 300 minutes per week. It is determined by the Sports Law of the Republic of Latvia, European Society of Cardiology and European Federation of Sports Medicine Associations recommendations. The in-depth preventive medical screening should include methods that ensure a full assessment of health and the functional condition of human body systems, adaptation to physical exercise and exercise tolerance. In order to provide an athlete with an individually suitable training programme, to reduce the risk of cardiac event and sudden death in sports, the athlete himself and the sports specialist must regularly cooperate with a sports physician. The sports physician will provide an exercise consultation and recommendations for the physical exercise suitable for an individual's health and physical working capacity: training programme: regularity, frequency and duration, training parts, specific tasks of the respective training cycle and recovery.

The author of the study developed physical working capacity index evaluation scales (Table 4.1 and Table 4.3) and heart functional index evaluation scales (Table 4.2 and Table 4.4), depending on age, gender and training programme. In practical work, these scales will be used by sports physicians and other specialists who are certified and use the cardiopulmonary exercise testing method and ECG and exercise testing methods. In the practice of sports physicians these scales will also be useful in exercise consultation for patients and physically active individuals – athletes of different gender, age, health status and physical working capacity undergoing different training programmes with or without participation in sports competitions to improve health and exercise tolerance and help achieve the goal in sports.

Age	< 300 exercise minutes per week			≥ 300 exercise minutes per week		
groups	Low level	Middle level	High level	Low level	Middle level	High level
12-15 years	2.27-2.65	2.66-3.12	3.13-4.07	2.31-2.88	2.89-3.33	3.34-4.10
16–19 years	2.14-2.66	2.67-3.09	3.10-3.73	2.39-3.00	3.01-3.47	3.48-3.92
20-29 years	2.01-2.67	2.68-3.16	3.17-3.97	2.59–2.26	3.27–3.61	3.62-5.01
30-39 years	2.01-2.61	2.62–2.87	2.88-3.69	2.49-3.12	3.13–3.71	3.72–4.70
40–49 years	1.56-1.96	1.97–2.32	2.33-3.18	2.01-2.52	2.53-2.88	2.89-4.00
50–59 years	1.37-1.85	1.86-2.33	2.34-3.16	_	_	_

Physical Working Capacity Index Scale for Physically Active Female, W/kg

Table 4.2

Heart Functional Index Scale for Physically active Female, W/kg

	< 30)0 exercise minutes		\geq 300 exercise minutes		
Age groups	Low level	per week Middle level	High level	Low level	Middle level	High level
12-15 years	1.57-1.99	2.00-2.44	2.45-3.07	1.86–2.43	2.44-2.72	2.73-3.24
16–19 years	1.50-2.17	2.18-2.55	2.56-3.00	1.84–2.29	2.30-2.73	2.74-3.33
20-29 years	1.56–2.21	2.22-2.52	2.53-3.26	2.09-2.74	2.75-3.13	3.14-4.21
30-39 years	1.81-2.37	2.38-2.59	2.59-3.16	2.28–2.57	2.58-3.21	3.22-4.20
4049 years	1.50-1.85	1.86-2.29	2.30-3.18	1.89–2.24	2.25-2.64	2.65-3.62
50-59 years	1.28-1.85	1.86–2.14	2.15-2.48	—	_	_

	< 300	exercise mi per week	xercise minutes per week		≥ 300 exercise minutes per week		
Age groups	Low level	Middle level	High level	Low level	Middle level	High level	
12–15 years	2.38–2.93	2.94-3.44	3.45-4.34	3.30-3.54	3.55–3.97	3.98–5.52	
16–19 years	2.53-3.09	3.10-3.59	3.60-4.91	2.58-3.29	3.30-4.04	4.05-5.31	
20–29 years	2.63-3.33	3.34–3.72	3.73-5.22	3.01-3.67	3.68-4.63	4.64–5.90	
30–39 years	2.54-3.24	3.25-3.68	3.69-4.85	2.75-3.39	3.40-3.80	3.81-4.87	
40–49 years	2.3 - 3.02	3.03-3.38	3.39-4.02	2.29-3.08	3.09-3.63	3.64-4.78	
50–59 years	1.85-2.21	2.22–2.75	2.76-3.20	1.95–2.89	2.90-3.36	3.37-4.54	
60–69 years	1.55–1.97	1.98–2.56	2.57-3.36	_	-	-	

Physical Working Capacity Index Scale for Physically Active Male, W/kg

Table 4.4

Heart Functional Index Scale for Physically active Male, W/kg

Age groups	< 300 exercise minutes per week			≥ 300 exercise minutes per week		
	Low level	Middle level	High level	Low level	Middle level	High level
12–15 years	1.80–2.39	2.40-2.88	2.89-3.85	2.39–2.77	2.78-3.21	3.22-4.05
16–19 years	1.84–2.42	2.43-2.93	2.94-4.04	2.10-2.76	2.77-3.31	3.32-4.19
20–29 years	2.00–2.67	2.68-3.06	3.07-4.18	2.29-3.03	3.04-3.79	3.80-4.81
30–39 years	2.11-2.73	2.74-3.12	3.13-4.12	2.10-2.88	2.89-3.24	3.25-3.85
40–49 years	1.96–2.66	2.67-3.09	3.10-3.74	2.05-2.90	2.91-3.34	3.35-4.23
50–59 years	1.75–2.21	2.22-2.75	2.76-3.16	1.95–2.81	2.82-3.25	3.26-4.54
60–69 years	1.55–1.97	1.98-2.56	2.57-2.95	_	_	_

Publications on the Topic of the Thesis

Scientific publications included in international database SCOPUS

- Ionescu, A. M., Pitsiladis, Y. P., Rozenstoka, S., Bigard, X., Lollgen, H., Bachl, N., Debruyne, A., Pigozzi, F., Casasco, M., Jegier, A., Smaranda, A. M., Caramoci, A., Papadopoulou, T. 2021. Preparticipation medical evaluation for elite athletes: EFSMA recommendations on standardised preparticipation evaluation form in European countries. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine*, 7(4),e001178. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2021-001178.
- Rozenstoka, S. 2012. Endurance ability charasteristicss of professional s portsmen. *Journal of Human sport and exercise*, 7(1), 166–172. doi:10.4100/ jhse.2012.7.Proc1.18.

Scientific articles published in peer-reviewed publications in Latvia

- 1. Rozenstoka, S., Erglis, A. 2020. Exercise, Chronotropic and Inotropic Capacity in Athletes with Different Training Programmes. *Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences. Section B*, 74 (1),724, 18–24. DOI: 10.2478/prolas-2020-0004.
- Rozenstoka, S., Lace, A., Jubele, K. 2010. Analyses of Functional Abilities of the Body and Metabolic Processes for Participants of Public Sport and Professional Sportsmen. *Riga Stradins University Research Articles in Medicine and Pharmacy 2010*, 170–179.

A presentation at an international scientific conference

- 1. Rozenstoka, S., 2021. The sport physician and athlete relationship for performance and health benefit. 36th FIMS World Congress of Sports medicine, September 23–26, 2021, Athens, Greece.
- Rozenstoka, S., 2019. Sports medicine doctor and athletes collaboration to achieve success in the sports world. 11th European sports medicine congress, October 3–5, 2019, Portorose, Slovenia.
- Rozenstoka, S., Suna, D., 2018. Functional and biochemical recovery in athletes training process. 35th FIMS World Congress of Sports medicine and 30th Brazilian Congress of Sports and exercise medicine, September 12–15, 2018, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.
- Augstkalne, D., Rozenstoka, S., 20128. The Sports medicine field in Latvia – affecting factors analysis. 10th International Baltic Sports medicine congress, April 20-21, 2018. *European Journal of Sports medicine 2018*, 5(2), 38. www.eujsm.eu/index.php/EUJSM/article/view/171

- Rozenstoka, S. 2017. Chronotropic and inotropic heart capacity of female athletes. 10th European Sports medicine congress, November 16–18, 2017, Cascais, Portugal.
- Rozenstoka, S., Spalva, K., Raibarts, J., 2016. Adolescent athlete cardiorespiratory system adaptation to the regular training. 34th FIMS World Sports medicine congress, September 29 – October 2, 2016, Ljubljana, Slovenia. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 2016, 50(1), A77. https://bjsm.bmj.com/content/50/Suppl_1/A77
- Rozenstoka, S., Lace, A., Golubcova, K., Erglis, A. 2016. The influence of training program on the functionality of respiratory system. 34th FIMS World Sports medicine congress, September 29 – October 2, 2016, Ljubljana, Slovenia. *British Journal of Sports Medicine 2016*, 50(1), A26.2-A27. https://bjsm.bmj.com/ content/50/Suppl_1/A26.2
- Rozenstoka, S., Lace, A., Rinkule, S., Raibarts, J. 2014. Peculiarities of Recovery in Athletes Training process. The 2014 International Society of Performance Analysis of Sport Workshop, April 15-16, 2014, Manchester, United Kingdom.
- Rozenstoka, S., Lace, A., Raibarts, J. 2013. Physical load tolerance of the amateur sportsmen. 8th European Sports Medicine Congress, September 25–28, 2013, Strasbourg, France. *European Journal of Sports medicine 2013*, 1(1), 218-219.
- Rozenstoka, S., Lace, A., Rinkule, S., Raibarts, J., Erglis A. 2012. Functional abilities of amateur sportsmen. 32th World Sports medicine congress "Sports Medicine, the challenge for global health: Quo Vadis?", September 27-30, 2012, Rome, Italy. http://www.fimsroma2012.org/scientific-information/abstract-book/
- Rozenstoka, S., Lace, A., Raibarts, J., Erglis A. 2012. Arterial blood pressure adaptation in case of hypertonic reaction to physical load. XXXII World Sports medicine congress "Sports Medicine, the challenge for global health: Quo Vadis?", September 27–30, 2012, Rome, Italy. http://www.fimsroma2012.org/scientificinformation/abstract-book/
- Rozenstoka, S., Lace, A. 2011. Functional abilities of the participants of public sports and professional sportmen. VII International Baltic Sports medicine congress, November 24–26, 2011, Riga, Latvia.

A presentation at a local scientific conference

- Rozenstoka, S., Golubcova Abola, K., Erglis, A., 2021. Personalized approach in sports medicine and training program planning. RSU Research week 2021. Knowledge for Use in Practice. Orthopaedics: Trauma, rehabilitation, Sports and Military medicine, 25-26.03.2021., Riga, Latvia
- Rozenstoka, S., Lace, A., 2014. The importance of warming up and cooling down in a full training process. Riga Stradins University 13. Science conference, 10–11.04.2014, Riga, Latvia.

Bibliography

- 1. Andersen, L. B., Anderssen, S., Bachl, N., Banzer, W., Brage, S., Brettschneider, W. D., Ekelund, U., Fogelholm, M., Froberg, K., Gil-Antunano, N. P., Larins, V., Naul, R., Oppert, J. M., Page, A., Reggiani, C., Riddoch, C., Rutten, A., Saltin, B., Sardinha, L. B., Tuomilehto, J., Van Mechelen, W. and Vass, H. 2008. Europe Union Physical Activity Guidelines. Recommended Policy Actions in Support of Health-Enhancing Physical Activity. Brussels: The Sport Unit. Directorate – General for Education and Culture, European Commission, Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/sport/library/policy documents/eu-physicalactivity-guidelines-2008 en.pdf [viewed 12.11.2017.].
- Areta, J. L. 2020. Case Study: Resumption of Eumenorrhea in Parallel with High Training Load After 4 Years of Menstrual Dysfunction: A 5-Year Follow-Up of an Elite Female Cyclist. International Journal of Sports Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism. 1,6. Available from: doi:10.1123/ijsnem.2019-0284 [viewed 10.10.2018.].
- 3. Auliks, I. 1985. Sporta medicīna [Sports medicine]. Latvia, Riga: Zvaigzne.
- Beaumont, A., Campbell, A., Grace, F. and Sculthorpe, N. 2018. Cardiac response to exercise in normal ageing: what can we learn from masters' athletes. Current Cardiology reviews. 14(4), 245–253. Available from: doi:10.2174/ 1573403X14666180810155513 [viewed 03.04.2018.].
- Bodegard, J., Erikssen, G., Bjornholt, J. V., Gjesdal, K., Liestol, K. and Erikssen, J. 2014. Reasons for terminating an exercise test provide independent prognostic information: 2014 apparently healthy men followed for 26 years. Eur. Heart J., 26 (14), 1394–1401. Available from: doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehi278 [viewed 10.09.2020.].
- 6. Bompa, T. O. and Haff, G. G. 2009. Periodization: theory and methodology of training. 5th edition. USA: Human Kinetics.
- Borjesson, M., Dellborg, M., Niebauer, J., La Gerche, A., Schmied, C., Solberg, E. E., Halle, M., Adami, E., Biffi, A., Carre, F., Caselli, S., Papadakis, M., Pressler, A., Rasmusen, H., Serratosa, L., Sharma, S., Van Buuren, F. and Pelliccia, A. 2019. Recommendations for participation in leisure time or competitive sports in athletespatients with coronary artery disease: a position statement from the Sports Cardiology Section of the European Association of Preventive Cardiology. European Heart Journal. 40(1), 13–18. Available from: doi:10.1093/ eurheartj/ehy408 [viewed 20.06.2020.].
- 8. Bremanis, E. 1991. Sporta fizioloģija [Sports physiology]. Latvia, Riga: Zvaigzne.
- Bussink, B. E., Holst, A. G., Jespersen, L., Deckers, J. W., Jensen, G. B. and Prescott, E. 2013. Right bundle branch block: prevalence, risk factors, and outcome in the general population: results from the Copenhagen City Heart Study. European Heart Journal. 34(2), 138–146. Available from: doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehs291 [17.04.2016.].

- 10. Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Latvia. 24.03.2009. Noteikumi par ārstniecības personu un studējošo, kuri apgūst pirmā vai otrā līmeņa profesionālās augstākās medicīniskās izglītības programmas, kompetenci ārstniecībā un šo personu teorētisko un praktisko zināšanu apjomu: MK noteikumi Nr. 268 [Regulations on the Competence of Medical Practitioners and Students Acquiring First or Second Level Professional Higher Medical Education Programs in Medical Treatment and the Amount of Theoretical and Practical Knowledge of These Persons: Cabinet of Ministers Regulation No. 268]. Latvia: Latvijas vestnesis, 2009/58.
- 11. Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Latvia. 06.09.2016. Sportistu un bērnu ar paaugstinātu fizisko slodzi veselības aprūpes un medicīniskās uzraudzības kārtība: MK noteikumi Nr. 594 [Procedures for Health Care and Medical Supervision of Athletes and Children with Increased Physical Exercise: Regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers No. 594]. Latvia: Latvijas vestnesis. 2016/174.
- Carriker, C. R. 2017. Components of Fatigue: Mind and Body. Journal of Strength and conditioning research. 31(11), 3170-3176. Available from: doi:10.1519/ JSC.000000000002088 [viewed 20.04.2019.].
- Corrado, D., Basso, C., Pavej, A., Michieli, P., Schiavon, M. and Thiene, G. 2006. Trends in sudden cardiovascular death in young competitive athletes after implementation of a preparticipation screening program. Journal of the American Medical Association, 296 (13), 1593–1601. Available from: doi:10.1001/ jama.296.13.1593 [viewed 02.04.2018.].
- Csecs, I., Czimbalmos, C., Toth, A., Dohy, Z., Suhai, I. F., Szabo, L., Kovacs, A., Lakatos, B., Sydo, N., Kheirkhahan, M., Peritz, D., Kiss, O., Merkely, B. and Vago, H. 2020. The impact of sex, age and training on biventricular cardiac adaptation in healthy adult and adolescent athletes: Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging study. European Journal of Preventive Cardiology. 27(5), 540–549. Available from: doi:10.1177/2047487319866019 [viewed 12.10.2020.].
- Degens, H., Stasiulis, A., Skurvydas, A. and Statkevièiene, B. 2019. Physiological comparison between non-athletes, endurance, power and team athletes. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.*, 119, 1377–1386. Available from: doi:10.1007/s00421-019-04128-3 [viewed 20.12.2021.].
- De Lamater, J. and Friedrich, W. N. 2002. Human sexual development. Journal of Sex Research. 39(1), 10–14. Available from: doi:10.1080/00224490209552113 [viewed 20.12.2021.].
- Dickhunt, H. H., Scharhag, J., Rocker, K. and Konig, D. 2012. Cardiovascular adaptations and exercise: FIMS position statement 2012. *International Sportmed Journal.* 13(1), 1–7. Available from: http://www.fims.org/files/8714/2056/0460/FIMS_PS_Cardivascular_adaptations_ and_exercise_Mar_2012.pdf [viewed 20.04.2015.].
- Dobre, D., Zannad, F., Keteyian, S. J., Stevens, S. R., Rossignol, P., Kitzman, D. W., Landzberg, J., Howlett, J., Kraus, W. E. and Ellis, s. J. 2013. Association

between resting heart rate, chronotropic index, and long-term outcomes in patients with heart failure receiving β -blocker therapy: data from the HF-ACTION trial. European Heart Journal. 34(29), 2271–2280. Available from: doi:10.1093/ eurheartj/ehs433 [viewed 06.02.2020.].

- Ferguson, S., Gledhill, N., Jamnik, V. K., Wiebe, C. and Payne, N. 2001. Cardiac performance in endurance-trained and moderately active young women. *Med. Sci. Sports Exercise.* 33 (7), 1114–1119. Available from: doi: 10.1097/00005768-200107000-00008 [viewed 21.04.2016.].
- Ferreire, M., Santos Silva, P. R., De Abreu, L. C., Valenti, V. E., Crispim, V., Imaizumi, C., Filho, C. F., Murad, N., Meneghini, A., Riera, A. R. P., Dias de Carvalho, T., Vanderlei, L. C. M., Valenti, E. E., Cisternas, J. R., Filho, O. F. M. and Ferreira C. 2010. Sudden cardiac death athletes: a systematic review. Sports Medicine, Arthroscopy, Rehabilitation, Therapy and Technology. 2, 19. Available fro: doi:10.1186/1758-2555-2-19 [viewed 10.12.2012.].
- Fletcher, G. F., Ades, P. A., Kligfield, P., Arena, R., Balady, G. J., Bittner, V. A., Coke, L. A., Fleg, J. L., Forman, D. E., Gerber, T. C., Gulati, M., Madan, K., Rhodes, J., Thompson, P. D., and Williams, M. A. 2013. Exercise Standards for Testing and Training. A Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 128(8), 873–934. Available from: doi:10.1161/ CIR.0b013e31829b5b44 [viewed 23.04.2016.].
- Fornasiero, A., Savoldelli, A., Modena, R., Boccia, G., Pellegrini, B. and Schenaet F. 2018. Physiological and Anthropometric Characteristics of Top – Level Youth Cross – Country Cyclists. Journal of Sports Sciences. 36(8), 901–906. Available from: doi:10.1080/02640414.2017.1346271 [viewed 27.07.2019.].
- Franklin, B. A., Brinks, J., Berra, K., Lavie, C. J., Gordon, N. F. and Sperling, L. F. 2018. Using Metabolic Equivalents in Clinical Practice. American Journal of Cardiology. 121(3), 382–387. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2017.10.033 [viewed 20.04.2019.].
- 24. Grinberga, D., Velika, B., Pudule, I., Gavare, I. un Villerusa, A., 2017. Latvijas iedzīvotāju veselību ietekmējošo paradumu pētījums, 2016. gads. Veselību ietekmējošo paradumu pētījumi [Study of habits influencing the health of the Latvian population, 2016. Research on health habits]. Latvia, Riga: Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Available from: https://spkc.gov.lv/ upload/Petijumi%20un%20zinojumi/FINBALT/finbalt_2016_2.pdf [viewed 25.03.2021.].
- James, C. A., Bhonsale, A., Tichnell, C., Murray, B., Russell, S. D., Tandri, H., Tedford, R. J., Judge D. P. and Calkins, H. 2013. Exercise increases age-related penetrance and arrhythmic risk in arrhythmogenic right ventricular dysplasia/cardiomyopathy-associated desmosomal mutation carriers. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 62(14), 1290–1297. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2013.06.033 [viewed 16.04.2017.].

- 26. La Gerche, A. and Heidbuchel, H. 2014. Can intensive exercise harm the heart? You can get too much of a good thing. Circulation. 130(12), 992–1002. Available from: doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.008141 [viewed 16.04.2017.].
- Le, V. V., Wheeler, M. T., Mandic, S., Dewey, F., Fonda, H., Perez, M., Sungar, G., Garza, D., Ashley, E. A., Matheson, G. and Froelicher, V. 2010. Addition of the electrocardiogram to the preparticipation examination of college athletes. Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine. 20(2), 98–105. Available from: doi:10.1097/ JSM.0b013e3181d44705 [17.04.2016.].
- Malhotra, V. K., Singh, N., Bishnoi, R. S., Chadha, D. S., Bhardwaj, P., Madan, H., Dutta, R., Ghosh, A. K., Sengupta, S. and Perumal, P. 2015. The prevalence of abnormal ECG in trained sportsmen. Medical Journal Armed Forces India. 71(4), 324–329. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.mjafi.2015.06.010. [viewed 25.01.2022.].
- Maron, B. J. and Pelliccia, A. 2006. The heart of trained athletes: Cardiac Remodeling and the Risks of Sports, Including Sudden Death. Circulation. 114, 1633–1644. Available from: doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.613562 [viewed 05.09.2019.].
- Mayolas-Pi, C., Simon-Grima, J., Penarrubia-Lozano, C., Munguia-Izquierdo, D., Moliner-Urdiales, D. and Legaz-Arrese, A. 2017. Exercise addiction risk and health in male and female amateur endurance cyclists. *J. Behav. Addict.*, 6(1), 74–83. Available from: doi:10.1556/2006.6.2017.018 [viewed 06.03.2019.].
- McArdle, W. D., Katch, F. I. and Katch, V. L. 2010. Exercise Physiology: Nutrition, Energy and Human Performance. 8th edition. USA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 32. Mintale, I. un Erglis, A. 2008. Fiziskās slodzes testi, metodoloģija. Rīga: Latvijas kardiologu biedrība.
- Mitchell, J. H., Haskell, W. L. and Raven, P. B. 1994. Classification of Sports. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 24(4), 864–866. Available from: doi:10.1016/0735-1097(94)90841-9 [viewed 10.12.2012.].
- 34. Mont, L., Pelliccia, A., Sharma, S., Biffi, A., Borjesson, M., Brugada Terradellas, J., Carre, F., Guasch, E., Heidbuchel, H., La Gerche, A., Lampert, R., McKenna, W., Papadakis, M., Priori, S. G., Scanavacca, M., Thompson, P., Sticherling, C., Viskin, S., Wilson, M. and Corrado, D. 2017. Pre-participation cardiovascular evaluation for athletic participants to prevent sudden death: Position paper from the EHRA and the EACPR, branches of the European Society of Cardiology. EP Europace. 19(1), 139–163. Available from: doi.org/10.1093/europace/euw243 [viewed 12.03.2019.].
- Ng, G. A. 2006. Treating patients with ventricular ectopic beats. Heart. 92(11), 1707–1712. Available from: doi:10.1136/hrt.2005.067843 [viewed 06.02.2020.].
- Nords Event Communication, 2019. Rimi Rīgas maratons. www.rimirigasmaratons.lv. Nords Event Communication. Iegūts no: https://rimirigamarathon.com/lv/ [sk. 10.06.2019.].

- 37. Pelliccia, A., Fagard, R., Bjornstad, H. H., Anastassakis, A., Arbustini, E., Assanelli, D., Biffi, A., Borjesson, M., Carre, F., Corrado, D., Delise, P., Dorwarth, Hirth, A., Heidbuchel, H., Hoffmann, E., Mellwig, U.. K. P., Panhuyzen - Goedkoop, N., Pisani, A., Solberg, E. E., Van Buuren, F., Vanhees, L., Blomstrom - Lundqvist, C., Deligiannis, A., Dugmore, D., Glikson, M., Hoff, P. I., Hoffmann, A., Hoffmann, E., Horstkotte, D., Nordrehaug, J. E., Oudhof, J., McKenna, W. J., Penco, M., Priori, S., Reybrouck, T., Senden, J., Spataro, A. and Thiene, G. 2005. Recommendations for competitive sports participation in athletes with cardiovascular disease: a consensus document from the Study Group of Sports Cardiology of the Working Group of Cardiac Rehabilitation and Exercise Physiology and the Working Group of Myocardial and Pericardial Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology. European Heart Journal. 26(14), 1422–1445. Available from: doi:10.1093/eurhearti/ehi325 [viewed 10.12.2012.].
- Pescatello L. S., Franklin, B. A., Fagard, R., Farquhar, W. B., Kelley, G. A. and Ray, C. A. 2004. American College of Sports Medicine position stand: Exercise and hypertension. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise. 36(3), 533–553. Available from: doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000115224.88514.3a [viewed 16.05.2016.].
- Pudule, I., Velika, B., Grinberga, D., Gobiņa, I., Villerusa, A., Klaviņa Makrecka, S. un Bezborodovs, N. 2020. Latvijas skolēnu veselības paradumu pētījums 2017. /2018. mācību gada aptaujas rezultāti un tendences [Latvian Pupils' Health Habits Survey 2017/2018. school survey results and trends]. Latvia, Riga: Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Available from: https://www.spkc.gov.lv/ sites/spkc/files/data_content/latvijas-skolenu-veselibas-paradumu-petijums-05.10.2020_1.pdf [viewed 01.12.2021.].
- Sharma, S., Merghani, A. and Mont, L. 2015. Exercise and the heart: The good, the bad, and the ugly. European Heart Journal. 36(23), 1445–1453. Available from: doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv090 [viewed 16.05.2016.].
- Singh, T. K. and Baggish, A. L. 2018. Premature ventricular beats in the athlete: management considerations. Expert Review of Cardiovascular Therapy. 16, 277–286. Available from: doi:10.1080/14779072.2018.1443395 [viewed 06.02.2020.].
- 42. Skalik, R. 2015. Screening of athletes: An electrocardiogram is not enough. Herz. 40(3), 386–394. Available from: doi:10.1007/s00059-015-4214-6 [viewed 02.04.2018.].
- Smoliga, J. M., Mohseni, Z. S., Berwager, J. D. and Hegedus, E. J. 2016. Common causes of dyspnoea in athletes: a practical approach for diagnosis and management. Breathe. 12(2), e22–e37. Available from doi:10.1183/20734735.006416 [viewed 23.09.2017.].
- 44. Sports Law: The Law of Republic of Latvia. 24.10.2002. Latvia: Latvijas vestnesis, 2012/165.
- 45. State Agency of Medicines. 2020. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing. Database of medical technologies used in treatment. Available from: https://www.zva.gov.lv/

zvais/mtdb/2-internas-medicinas-un-funkcionalas-diagnostikas-mediciniskie-pakalpo-jumi/kardiopulmonarais-slodzes-tests [viewed 10.09.2020.].

- 46. Vignati, C., Apostolo, A., Cattadori, G., Farina, S., Del Torto, A., Scuri, S., Gerosa, G., Bottio, T., Tarzia, V. and Bejko, J. 2017. Lvad pump speed increase is associated with increased peak exercise cardiac output and VO2, postponed anaerobic threshold and improved ventilatory efficiency. International Journal of Cardiology. 230, 28–32. Available from: doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.12.112 [viewed 05.03.2019.].
- Vignati, C. and Cattadori, G. 2017. Measuring Cardiac Output during Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing. Annals of American Thoracic Society. 14(1), S48–S52. Available from: doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201611-852FR [viewed 05.03.2019.].
- Wasserman, K., Hansen, J., Sue, D. and Stringer, W. 2005. Principles of exercise testing and interpretation. 4th edition. USA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins. 2–82, 170–182.
- 49. Wheatley, C. M., Snyder, E. M., Johnson, B. D. and Olson, T. P. 2014. Sex differences in cardiovascular function during submaximal exercise in humans. *Springerplus.* 3(1), 445. Available from: doi:10.1186/2193-1801-3-445 [viewed 20.05.2015.].
- WHO, 2010. Global Recommendations for Physical Activity for Health. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK305060 [viewed 10.06.2016.].
- 51. WHO, 2018. World Health Organization. 2018. World Health Organisation Fact sheet: Physical activity, 2018. www.who.int. Available from: http://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/physical-activity [viewed 20.03.2019.].
- 52. WHO, 2020. Guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Geneva: World Health Organization. Avaible from: https://extranet.who.int/ iris/restricted/bitstream/handle/10665/336656/9789240015128-eng.pdf [viewed 12.05.2021.].
- 53. Zidens, J., Smiltiņa, J., Abele, A., Fernate, A., Pontaga, I., Udre, V., Rubana, I. M., Bremanis, E., Mustafins, P., Rozenstoka, S., Rudzitis, A., Larins, V., Kozlovska, L., Lesenkovs, E., Cakurs, I., Sarlovska, S., Kohs, N., Busa – Biteniece, I., Zibarts, M., Nerips, A., Skutane, S., Lubinska, I, Kotane, V., Judmaijers, G., Smila, B., Demcenko, V., Zilinskis, L. un Kobzevs, G., 2008. Bērnu un pusaudžu treneru rokasgrāmata [A guide for children and adolescent coaches]. Latvia, Riga: Latvian Coaches Continuing Education Center.
- 54. Zukovskis, I. 1991. Sporta medicīnas praktikums [Sports medicine practicum]. Latvia, Riga: Zinatne.

- 55. Кагртап Карпман, В. Л., V. L., Белоцерковский, З. Б. и Гудков. И. А. 1988. Тестирование в спортивной медицине [Testēšana sporta medicīnā]. Москва: Физкультура и спорт.
- 56. Кагртап Карпман, В. Л., Белоцерковский, З. Б. и Любина, Б. Г. 1969. PWC170 проба для определения физической работоспособности [PWC170 tests fizisko darbspēju noteikšanai]. Теория и практика физической культуры. 10, 37–40.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Andrejs Erglis. Thank you for the enthusiasm of our first meeting, when you were able to devote only two minutes to the conversation, yet it was enough to encourage me to dream big dreams and put them into the study. Thank you for your faith in achieving my goal, for your valuable advice and support in writing the scientific articles.

In medicine, it is not possible to study alone, it is always a teamwork. Thanks teacher Velta Feldmane, prof. Janis Raibarts and prof. Joseph Cummiskey for encouraging further study and the knowledge you shared. I would like to thank my workmates at the Sports Laboratory, Ksenia Golubcova – Abola and Santa Kauzena for the kind attitude towards each person in testing and my friend Helgi Zandberga for helping create the database. Thanks to dr. Kristine Spalva for the invaluable assistance in statistical data processing. Thanks to Liene Siliņa and Daina Freimantale for helping create the coherence of the Thesis in Latvian and special thanks to Baiba Jekabsone for the excellent knowledge of English and for helping create the coherence of the Thesis in English.

Many thanks to my family for their strong backing, understanding and support. Thanks to my father Talivaldis Rozenstoks and my mother Zinta Rozenštoka for encouraging my independence and trust in decision-making and providing the opportunity to realize myself. Thanks to my sister Agnese Lace, who encouraged and worked together to create the "Sports Laboratory" and continues supporting my work in the field of sports medicine in accordance with the highest quality standards. This provided an opportunity for an extensive study to contribute to the improvement of public health and the development of the sports medicine industry. Many thanks to my husband Andris Rozenstoks for his understanding, care and invaluable support in every work I do, and also to our children Matiss, Luize and Marta. Thanks to the chairman and members of the promotion council, the official reviewers, the members of the pre-defence committee for the evaluation of the Thesis and the recommendations provided. Special thanks to prof. Aivars Lejnieks, prof. Yannis Pitsiladis, prof. Iveta Mintale, prof. Ilze Konrade, Dr. Med. Egils Dzerve for the valuable guidance and the encouraging criticism, which contributed to a significant improvement in the quality of the Thesis. Thanks to Rīga Stradiņš University, Department of Doctoral Studies and special thanks to Professor Sandra Lejniece for her responsiveness in advancing the study.

Thanks to all 1.600 study participants for participating in the study and for following the sports physician's recommendations on an ongoing basis. Thanks to everyone I did not mention here, but whose support was important in creating the Thesis.

Appendix 1 Permission of Rīga Stradiņš University Research Ethics Committee, Decision No E-9 (2)

Veidlapa Nr E-9 (2)

RSU ĒTIKAS KOMITEJAS LĒMUMS

Rīga, Dzirciema iela 16, LV-1007 Tel.67409137

Komitejas sastāvs		Kvalifikācija	Nodarbošanās	
ī.	Asoc. prof. Olafs Brüvers	Dr.theo.	teologs	
2.	Profesore Vija Sīle	Dr.phil.	filozofs	
3.	Docente Santa Purvina	Dr.med.	farmakologs	
4.	Asoc. prof. Voldemärs Arnis	Dr.biol.	rehabilitologs	
3.	Profesore Regina Kleina	Dr.med.	patanatoms	
ő.	Asoc. prof. Guntars Pupelis	Dr.med.	kirurgs	
7.	Asoc. prof. Viesturs Liguts	Dr.med.	toksikologs	

Pieteikuma iesniedzējs: Sandra Rozenštoka RSU Doktorantūras nodaļa

Pētījuma nosaukums: Fiziskās slodzes tolerances atbilstība veselības stāvoklim un vispārējās fiziskās sagatavotības līmenim sportistiem profesionājiem un amatieriem.

lesniegšanas datums; 03.10.2011.

Pettjuma protokols:

(X) Pētījuma veids: Minētā pētījuma mērķis tiek sasniegts izvērtējot organisma funkcionālās spējas raksturojošo rādītāju izmaiņas atkarībā no treniņu režīma sportistiem profesionāļiem un amatieriem, iegūto datu apstrādi un analīzi, kā arī izsakot secinājumus un priekšlikumus. Personas datu aizsardzība un konfidencialitāte nodrošināta

(X) Pētījuma populācija: brīvprātīgi indivīdi - sportisti

(X) Informācija par pētījumu:

(X) Piekrišana dalībai pētījumā:

Citi dokumenti:

Lēmums: pickrist biomedicīniskajam pētīju	nam ^{1 = A} UA
Komitejas priekšedētājs Olafs Brūvers	ETTETituls: Dr.miss., asoc.prof.
Paraksts Cleff Age	KOMITEJA
Etikas komitejas sēdes datums: 06.10.2011.	